# COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

between

# ALLIED UNIVERSAL SECURITY SERVICES (The "Company")



and

# INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF MACHINISTS AND AEROSPACE WORKERS



for

TRANSPORTATION DISTRICT LODGE 140

AGREEMENT # 4

APRIL 1, 2021 - MARCH 31, 2024

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ARTICLE 1	PURPOSE AGREEMENT	1
ARTICLE 2	SCOPE AND RECOGNITION	1
ARTICLE 3	UNION SECURITY	5
ARTICLE 4	MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	6
ARTICLE 5	UNION REPRESENTATION	3
ARTICLE 6	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	15
ARTICLE 7	ARBITRATION	20
ARTICLE 8	NO STRIKE - NO LOCKOUT	29
ARTICLE 9	SENIORITY	30
ARTICLE 10	PROBATION EMPLOYEES	35
ARTICLE 11	REDUCTION INF RORCE	36
ARTICLE 12	TRANSFER	39
ARTICLE 13	LEAVE OF ABSENCE	42
ARTICLE 14	BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	44
ARTICLE 15	LEAVE OF ABSENCE FOR UNION BUSINESS	47
ARTICLE 16	PARENTAL LEAVE	
ARTICLE 17	HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME	49
ARTICLE 18	VACATION WITH PAY	76
ARTICI F 19	PAID HOLIDAYS	84

ARTICLE 20	WAGES	87
ARTICLE 21	BENEFITS	90
ARTICLE 22	BULLETIN BOARD	100
ARTICLE 23	NOTICES	100
ARTICLE 24	HUMAN RIGHTS	101
ARTICLE 25	HEALTH AND SAFETY	108
ARTICLE 26	JOB POSTINGS	114
ARTICLE 27	TERM	116
ARTICLE 28	VRSC (VOLUME, RISK, STRESS AND CONSEQUENCES)	, 116
ARTICLE 29	C.O.L.A. (COST OF LIVING ADJUSTMENT)	117
ARTICLE 30	LEAP & NLA - YXJ	119
APPENDIX A	RATES OF PAY	122
APPENDIX B	ACTING LEAD SCREENER	125
LOA # 1	PERFORMANCE BONUS	130
LOA # 2	UNIFORM STORAGE	131
MOA # 1	PERSONAL PAID LEAVE	132
MOA # 2	ARTICLE 17 - AUXILIARY SHIFT SCHEDULES)	133
MOA # 3	ARTICLE 17.06(1) - FILLING OF VACANT LINES	138

MOA # 4	TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENTS BETWEEN IAM BARGAINING UNIT 1	39
MOA # 5	SCREENING CONTRACTOR TRAINING REPRESENTATIVES (SCTR'S)1	43
MOA # 6	ASSISTANT SCREENING CONTRACTOR TRAINING REPRESENTATIVES (SCTR'S)	47
MOA # 7	AMENDMENTS TO THE CANADA LABOUR CODE RE: PAID SICK LEAVE	50

# **ARTICLE 1 - PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT**

1.01 The purpose of the Agreement is to establish and maintain an orderly Collective Bargaining relationship between the Company and its employees, to set forth all agreements concerning the parties hereto, and to provide an amicable method of settling any differences that may arise in the interpretation, application, administration, or alleged violation of the Agreement.

# **ARTICLE 2 - SCOPE AND RECOGNITION**

The Company recognizes the Union (IAMAW) 2.01 as the sole Bargaining Agent for employees of Allied Universal Security Services engaged in security screening, including the screening of passengers, baggage, airport employees, non-passengers, vehicles and cargo at Campbell River Airport, Campbell River; Comox Valley Airport, Comox; Cranbrook Airport. Cranbrook; Fort St. John Airport, Fort St. John; Kelowna International Airport, Kelowna; Nanaimo Airport, Cassidy; Penticton Regional Airport, Penticton; Prince George Airport, Prince George; Vancouver International Airport, Richmond; Victoria International Airport, Sidney; and, West Kootenay Regional Airport, Castlegar in British Columbia including Point Leaders, excluding Service Delivery Managers and those above the rank of service Delivery Manager. (Note: Each Airport location is a distinctive Bargaining Unit and Certification.)

Point Leaders can, when and where necessitated, provide screening services. Not expected as a normal recurring part of the position but in the event of "no shows" or excessive passenger volume, Point Leaders can screen.

For clarity, any work awarded to the Company by CATSA at an IAM & AW certified location within the geographic scope of this Agreement at a future date, which is consistent with the Certification description issued by the CIRB on February 13, 2012, will fall under the Scope of this Agreement, unless otherwise mutually agreed between the parties.

The terms and conditions set out in this Agreement apply to all employees described in Article 2.01. All work within the Scope of this Agreement shall be performed only by Members of the Union. No work which the employees perform, or are designated to perform, shall be sub-contracted out in any manner.

- 2.02 The Company agrees not to enter into any agreement or contract with the employees covered by this Agreement, individually or collectively, which in any way conflicts with the terms and provisions of this Agreement or any applicable Federal legislation, unless negotiated with an IAMAW Bargaining Agent. Otherwise any such agreement will be null and void.
- This Agreement shall be binding upon the 2.03 parties hereto. their successors. administrators, executors, and assigns. the event that any part or the entire operation is sold, leased, transferred or taken over by assignment. sale. transfer. lease. receivership or bankruptcy proceeding, such operation shall continue to be subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement for the life thereof, subject to any applicable Federal legislation.
- 2.04 The word "employee" or "employees" wherever used in the Agreement shall mean respectively an employee or employees in the Bargaining Unit described in Article 2.01.
- 2.05 Unless otherwise stated, the word "day" or "days" wherever used herein, shall be deemed not to include Saturdays, Sundays and Statutory Holidays observed by the Company.

- **2.06** For the purpose of interpreting this Agreement, the masculine gender, wherever used herein, shall mean and include the feminine gender, and gender neutral.
- 2.07 All references to Region shall mean all locations certified by the IAMAW with the Company in the Province of British Columbia.
- **2.08** All references to Site(s) means a specific airport within the Region.
- **2.09** All references to Point Lead(s) are interchangeable with the terms Lead or Lead Screeners.
- 2.10 Where the Collective Agreement references "mutual agreement" this means between the Company and Transportation District 140 of the IAMAW, unless otherwise designated.

# **FULL-TIME AND PART-TIME EMPLOYEES**

2.11 A full-time employee is an employee who holds a position on a continuous, scheduled basis and is scheduled for thirty (30) or more hours per week, to a maximum of forty (40) hours per week.

A part-time employee is an employee who holds a position on a continuous scheduled

basis and is scheduled for four (4) hours per week up to thirty (30) hours per week.

For clarification "continuous, scheduled basis" means a published shift line that works a similar rotation each week.

## **ARTICLE 3 - UNION SECURITY**

- 3.01 Membership in the Union shall be available to any employee eligible under the Constitution of the Union on payment of initiation or reinstatement fees uniformly required of all other such applicants by the Union Local. Membership shall not be denied for reasons of race, national origin, colour or religion.
- 3.02 All employees covered by this Agreement must become Members of and maintain Membership in good standing in the Union as a condition of employment. They shall maintain Membership as a continuing condition of employment. The potential employee must fill out a Union application form and pay any fees associated with it.
- 3.03 The Company shall deduct Union dues, including, where applicable, initiation fees and assessments, from the earnings of each employee bi-weekly, which shall be paid to the Union not later than the tenth (10th) day of the following month in which they are

deducted. The deduction will be stated on one line as "Union dues"

The remittance shall be accompanied by a dues check-off, listing the employee's name(s), employee number, SIN, hourly rate of pay, total gross earnings for the calendar month and the dues deduction amount remitted. If there is no remittance for an employee an explanation of their status will be provided.

- 3.04 Union dues for all employees shall be per Local Lodge 16 and Transportation District 140 Bylaws. The Company will be notified, in writing, of changes to the dues structure, if any.
- 3.05 The Union agrees to indemnify and hold the Company harmless against any claims, lawsuits, or charges brought against it by an employee as a result of the application of Article 3.

# **ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS**

4.01 The Union acknowledges that all Management rights and prerogatives are vested exclusively with the Company except as specifically limited by the provisions of the Agreement and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing it is the exclusive function of the Company:

- a) to maintain order, discipline, efficiency and in connection therewith to establish and enforce reasonable rules and regulations; and,
- b) to hire, transfer, lay off, recall, promote, demote, retire, classify, assign duties, dismiss, suspend or otherwise discipline employees, provided that a claim that an employee who has acquired seniority has been dismissed or otherwise disciplined without just cause may be the subject of a grievance under Article 6 of the Agreement; and,
- c) to determine, the method of operation; the amount of supervision; the schedules of work; the rotation of shifts; the hours and days of work and the number of employees required at any time; and,
- d) the Company and the Union agree to be reasonable and fair in the administration and operation of the Agreement.
- 4.02 a) The waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement, or the breach of any of its provisions by any of the parties, shall not constitute a precedent for any further breach

- b) It is understood and agreed that all previous agreements, whether oral or written, by and between the Company and the Union are superseded by this Agreement.
- 4.03 Discipline may be issued only by Managers and those above with supporting documentation.

## **ARTICLE 5 - UNION REPRESENTATION**

- 5.01 The Company agrees to recognize the following Committees of the Union to represent the employees for the purposes described herein:
  - a) A Negotiating Committee comprised of seven (7) Members from within the Region and the Chief Shop Steward from Vancouver selected by the Union to act on behalf of the Union in negotiating a Collective Agreement, or renewal thereof, with the Company, will be compensated by the Company for direct negotiations. As employees increase, the Committee should be comprised of one (1) representative for every one hundred and fifty (150) employees or major portion thereof.
  - b) In Vancouver, a Shop Committee

comprised of the Chief Shop Steward and a Shop Committee Member and a Grievance Committee comprised of one (1) Steward for each fifteen (15) employees.

- c) In all other locations a Chief Shop Steward and a Grievance Committee comprised of one (1) Steward for each fifteen (15) employees.
- d) Labour Relations Committee comprised of a minimum of five (5) Shop Stewards and a maximum of seven (7) Shop Stewards, as determined by thé Union, will meet at a minimum of once a month (or more often as needed by mutual agreement) with Management representatives in order to address matters of concern regarding the Union Membership and day-to-day operations at the Site(s). The minutes of these meetings will be distributed and posted at each Site within the Region.
- e) In all locations a Joint Scheduling Committee, comprised of the Chief Shop Steward, and a maximum of two (2) representatives at Class 1 and 2 Sites and a maximum of one (1) representative at Class Other Sites, as designated by the Union, will meet with the Company

pursuant to Article 5.05, to develop shift schedules, conduct shift bids, and meet with the Company for the purposes outlined in Article 17, during their regularly scheduled shifts and without loss of time. At a site level the parties may mutually agree to modify the schedules of the Joint Scheduling Committee participants for this purpose, such agreement will not be unreasonably withheld by the Company.

- f) A Union representative shall be permitted to meet with potential Union Members for up to two (2) hours at the Union's discretion per training/orientation class.
- 5.02 The Members of the Negotiating, Grievance, Health & Safety and Labour Relations Committees shall be employees designated by the Union. Management representatives shall be appointed by the Company.
- 5.03 The Union shall notify the Company in writing of the names of the employees who are Members of the Negotiating, Grievance and Labour Relations Committee and the Company shall not be required to recognize them until so notified.
- 5.04 The Union acknowledges that each Member of the Grievance Committee has regular work to perform and that he shall only absent

himself/herself from such work with the permission of the Management and, upon resuming his/her regular duties, he/she shall again report to the Manager. Such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld, subject to operational requirements. No Member of the Grievance Committee shall lose pay for time spent during his/her regular scheduled working hours performing the functions set out in Article 5.01(b) & (c).

A Union Grievance Committee represented by the Chief Shop Steward, a Member of the Shop Committee, or their designate and two (2) other Members as set out in Article 5.01(b) or (c) will meet with the Company to deal with grievances on a regular bi-weekly basis or as otherwise mutually agreed.

- 5.05 Every effort shall be made to schedule all meetings between representatives of the Company and representatives of the Union between the hours of 0800 1600, or as otherwise mutually agreed, without loss of time to representatives of the Union.
- 5.06 An employee will be entitled to have a Shop Steward present when being presented with any discipline that will be noted in his/her file or in any meeting that the employee may reasonably believe could lead to disciplinary action.

This entitlement does not apply to meeting(s) during the employee performance appraisal process; documents or information resulting from the appraisal process will not be referred to in any disciplinary procedures nor will they be utilized during the job selection process.

Prior to any disciplinary action being taken by the Company, the employee will have the opportunity to have his/her case presented at a meeting, as part of the Company's investigation. The employee and the Shop Steward will be advised in advance as to the nature of the matter giving rise to the meeting.

Nothing in this Article shall be construed to prevent the Company from removing an employee from the workplace with pay, pending an investigation and meeting. Notice of such removal shall be given to the affected employee, in the presence of a Shop Steward.

Every effort will be made to present discipline during the employee's regularly scheduled shift and within five (5) business days of the incidents giving rise to the discipline. All discipline shall be presented in private and out of public view. A Shop Steward who is present when any Member is presented with discipline will be provided reasonable time to counsel the Member, investigate and file a grievance as required, without loss of pay.

The Company will provide to the Union all documentation, evidence or particulars relied upon by the Company in their determination to discipline, either prior to the issuance or at the time discipline is issued, or schedule a time to view evidence which belongs to the Client or Airport Authority.

 a) It is hereby also agreed that all forms of discipline from an employee's file will be removed after twelve (12) months.

# 5.07 Union Representation

## a) Company Funded Chief Shop Steward

The Chief Shop Steward referenced in Article 5.01(b) will be the only full-time position funded directly by the Company for the purposes of remuneration and benefits. The Chief Shop Steward as defined in Article 5.01(b) shall be employed on day shift Monday to Friday, or as mutually agreed, in order that he/she will be able to discuss Union matters with both the Membership and Management.

In accordance with this Article, when the Chief Shop Steward returns to employment as a designated Screening Officer, following any term of office within the Union, there shall be no adverse

effect resulting from any effect or loss of certification, including but not limited to seniority, scheduling, compensation, etc. The employee shall be required to recertify in accordance with CATSA National Training Certification Program.

# b) Other Union Stewards

In Vancouver, a Senior Steward as designated by the Union will be scheduled to work at each work location/point, for a total of six (6) positions. Their schedules and work locations will not be modified without agreement of the Union except in emergency staffing situations.

In the regional Sites, every effort must be made to schedule meetings with the Chief Shop Steward, or Union designate, as outlined in Article 5.05, or as otherwise mutually agreed, without loss of wages. At a site level the parties may mutually agree to modify the schedule of the Chief Shop Steward, or Union designate, for this purpose, such agreement will not be unreasonably withheld by the Company.

# **ARTICLE 6 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE**

- 6.01 The Company and the Union agree that it is the purpose of the grievance procedure to amicably and justly settle any complaints and disagreements concerning the employees, the Union and the Company, without, so far as is possible, resorting to arbitration. The parties further agree that the settlement of any grievance shall be deemed not to conflict with the provisions of the Agreement.
- 6.02 It is the mutual desire of the parties that complaints of employees shall be dealt with as quickly as possible, out of the view of the public eye, with a Union Steward present. Furthermore, it is agreed that an employee has no grievance until he/she has first given the Manager the opportunity to deal informally with his/her complaint. The employee will be provided time during his/her regularly scheduled hours to meet with his/her Shop Steward and with the Manager to discuss the complaint, without wage loss.
- 6.03 Should any difference arise between the Company and any of the employees as to the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of the provisions of the Agreement that cannot be satisfactorily dealt with pursuant to Article 6.02, an earnest effort shall be made to settle such difference in the following manner:

## **STEP ONE**

6.04 Within ten (10) business days after the alleged grievance has arisen, the employee, who may request the assistance of his/her Steward, shall present his/her grievance in writing, on a form agreed upon by the Company and the Union, to the Management and if, within ten (10) days from the time when such grievance was presented, a decision not satisfactory to the employee is given; then,

#### **STEP TWO**

Within five (5) days after the decision of Step 6.05 One has been, or should have been given, an authorized Member of the Grievance Committee shall present the written grievance Operations Manager/Regional Manager, or a person or persons designated by him/her to handle such matters at Step The Operations Manager/Regional Manager, or his/her designate, shall schedule a meeting to be held within ten (10) days from the time when such grievance was presented to him/her, or his/her designate. At the Step meeting, the Operations Manager/ Regional Manager, or his/her designate, may be accompanied by Human Resources and such other assistants, as he/she so desires. While the Business Representative of the Union may be present at the meeting, the Company has the right to require

Business Representative's presence at the meeting. The Operations Manager/Regional Manager, or his/her designate, shall give a decision in writing on behalf of the Company within ten (10) days immediately following the date of such meeting.

## **GENERAL PROVISIONS**

- 6.06 In the event that two (2) or more employees have grievances relating to the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of the provisions of the Agreement which are sufficiently common in nature that they may be conveniently dealt with together, such grievances shall constitute a Group grievance and it shall be presented at Step Two.
- Any grievance which arises directly between 6.07 the Company and the Union concerning the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of the provisions of the Agreement, may be submitted by either of the parties to the other. Notice of the grievance shall be given in writing within ten (10) days of the occurrence of the matter giving rise to the grievance. The Operations Manager, or his/her designate, shall schedule a meeting between the Grievance Committee plus the Business Representative and the Company representatives designated for that purpose, to be held within twenty (20) days after notice has been given by either of the parties to the

other. The decision of the party being grieved against shall be given in writing within fifteen (15) days following the date of such meeting. If no settlement is reached, the grievance will be referred to arbitration in accordance with the provisions of Article 7 of the Agreement or referred with mutual agreement to non-binding mediation.

- 6.08 The Company will notify the Union in writing of the names of the Company representatives and designated alternates appointed for purposes of the grievance procedure April 1st of each year, or more if needed.
- 6.09 Each Step to be taken under the grievance procedure and any reference to arbitration shall be taken within the time limits set forth in Article 6 or Article 7 or the matter shall be deemed to have been abandoned, unless time limits have been extended by mutual agreement. A Step is deemed to have been taken when notice is given by the party who filed the grievance.
- 6.10 Any and all time limits set forth in Article 6 or Article 7 for the taking of action by either party or by an employee may be extended at any time by mutual agreement of the parties in writing.

#### **DISCIPLINE, DISMISSAL & SUSPENSION**

- 6.11 If the Company determines that an employee is to be dismissed or suspended, it shall notify in writing both the employee concerned and a Member of the appropriate Grievance Committee.
- 6.12 The Company agrees that after a grievance has been initiated by the Union, the Company's representative will not enter into any discussions, or negotiations, with respect to the grievance, either directly or indirectly with the aggrieved employee without consent of the Union representative.
- 6.13 If an employee believes that he has been dismissed or suspended without cause, the grievance shall be represented at Step Two within five (5) days after notice has been given to the employee and the Chief Shop Steward. If a suspension is grieved, the Company may elect not to put the suspension into effect until the grievance is settled, abandoned or determined by reference to arbitration.

Any discipline imposed by the Company in relation to an employee's alleged failure to meet screening standards, up to and including suspension, if grieved, shall not be put into effect, until the grievance is settled,

abandoned or determined by reference to arbitration.

**6.14** If an employee is dismissed, such dismissal will take effect immediately upon the employee receiving notice thereof.

# **ARTICLE 7 - ARBITRATION**

7.01 In the event that any grievance a) concerning the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of the Agreement shall not have been satisfactorily settled under the provisions of Article 6, the matter may then be referred to expedited arbitration bν mutual agreement in accordance with Article 7.01(b) and Article 7.08. or alternatively to single arbitration as follows:

Notice in Writing by one party to the other will be provided within ten (10) days from the decision of the Company under Article 6.05, or Article 6.07 or of the Union under Article 6.07. The Notice shall contain a copy of the grievance, the remedy sought and the name, address and phone number of the Arbitrator provided below, on a rotational basis:

- Corinn Bell
- James Dorsey
- Julie Nichols
- Vince Ready
- Ken Saunders
- Chris Sullivan
- Colin Taylor
- b) All grievances arising from discipline, which has not been satisfactorily settled under the provisions of Article 6, will be referred to expedited arbitration in accordance with Article 7.08. Notice in Writing by one party to the other will be provided within ten (10) days from the decision of the Company under Article 6.05, or Article 6.07 or of the Union under Article 6.07. The Notice shall contain a copy of the grievance and the remedy sought.
- c) All grievances arising from discharge, which has not been satisfactorily settled under the provisions of Article 6, will be referred to single arbitration, unless otherwise mutually agreed between the parties. However, the parties will utilize expedited arbitration dates to hear the grievance.
- 7.02 The recipient of the written Notice, referred to in Article 7.01, shall confirm receipt of such

notice in writing to the other party within ten (10) days after notice has been given. Where the next person named on the list is unable to hear the matter within thirty (30) calendar days, or such other times as the parties may agree, the next person will be selected and so on.

- 7.03 Subject to Article 6.06, each grievance submitted to arbitration shall be heard separately, unless otherwise mutually agreed.
- 7.04 The issue(s) raised in the written grievance shall be presented to the Arbitrator and his/her award shall be confined to such issue(s). The findings of the Arbitrator as to the facts and as to the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of the provisions of the Agreement shall be conclusive and binding on all parties concerned, but in no case shall the Arbitrator be authorized to alter, modify or amend any part of the Agreement.
- 7.05 If it is decided by the Arbitrator that an employee has been discharged or suspended without just cause, the Company will reinstate the employee without loss of seniority and pay, limited to the regular scheduled hours the employee would have worked less any amounts earned from new employment during that period, or will put into effect any

lesser settlement agreed to by the parties or determined by the Arbitrator.

- 7.06 Any grievance following the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of the Agreement, which has been disposed of under the provisions of Article 7, shall not be made the subject of another grievance.
- 7.07 The Company and the Union shall share equally, the expenses of the Arbitrator. The costs and allowances to be paid to witnesses shall be paid by the party calling such witness. No costs of arbitration shall be awarded to or against either party.
- 7.08 Recognizing the primary objective of an expedited arbitration procedure to provide a timely, informal and cost effective procedure for resolving grievances, the parties agree to the following expedited arbitration procedures:
  - a) Any grievance arising between parties concerning the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of the Collective Agreement, which has not been satisfactorily settled under the provisions of Article 6, may be referred to expedited arbitration, pursuant to Article 7.01.
  - b) The expedited arbitrators shall be:

- i. Corinn Bell
- ii. Julie Nichols
- iii. Vince Ready
- iv. Chris Sullivan

Note: Should there be a requirement to substitute one (1) of the expedited Arbitrators above due to retirement or death, the parties will meet and mutually agree upon the replacement expedited Arbitrator from the list specified in Clause 7.01.

- c) The parties shall equally share the fees and expenses of the arbitrator. Costs and allowances payable to witnesses shall be paid by the party calling such witnesses. No costs of expedited arbitration shall be awarded to or against either party.
- d) Location of hearings will be agreed to by the parties and in most cases will be held at the nearest site where the grievance(s) arose. The hearing arrangements will be made by the arbitrator.
- e) Date(s) for expedited arbitration will be scheduled in advance, no later than June 30<sup>th</sup> of the proceeding calendar year, occurring approximately every ninety (90) days, occurring not less than four (4) times per calendar year, with one (1)

- session scheduled with each of the four (4) arbitrators listed in point (b) above, each year. A session will be defined as at least two (2) consecutive days.
- f) If there are no grievances to be heard and the parties agree that a particular date(s) cannot be utilized, a minimum of two (2) weeks notice of cancellation will be provided to the Arbitrator, or such notice required by the Arbitrator to avoid cancellation charges, and the date(s) will be rescheduled.
- g) Grievances shall be presented by a designated representative of the Company and a designated representative of the Union. Legal counsel will not be used by either party.
- The Director of Human Resources and h) General Chairperson of Bargaining Unit, or their designates, shall meet forty-five (45) calendar days prior to the scheduled hearing date(s) to identify the grievance(s) to be heard and the that grievances order will proceed. Grievances shall he heard chronological order, however grievances arising from discharge will be heard on the next scheduled date, provided at least thirty (30) days written notice of referral to arbitration is provided.

- i) Unless otherwise agreed, the parties shall exchange briefs for each grievance on the agenda no later than seven (7) days prior to a scheduled hearing date, failing which the grievance(s) shall be removed from the agenda and deferred to the next hearing date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the receiving party will have the option to proceed as scheduled if they so desire or defer the matter to the next scheduled hearing date. The party failing to exchange the brief within seven (7) days of the hearing will have no right to adjourn or defer the matter.
- j) All grievance presentations are to be short and concise with:
  - Written opening statements dealing with the facts and provisions of the Collective Agreement upon which reliance is placed.
  - ii. All documents and statements etc. to be submitted as evidence at the hearing are subject to prior disclosure between the parties.
  - iii. Limited use of precedential authorities, to a maximum of three (3).
  - iv. Parties endeavouring to conclude cases within four (4) hours.

- k) The hearings will be governed by the following guidelines:
  - A brief of pertinent documents will be jointly presented to the arbitrator.
  - ii. If possible, a statement of agreed facts will be jointly presented to the arbitrator.
  - iii. Responses to opening statements will cover any facts which are in dispute and any additional facts available.
  - iv. The hearing will be conducted in an informal manner with limited objections by the parties and without concern for procedural irregularities.
  - v. Hearsay evidence and extrinsic evidence will be allowed to be entered without objection from the opposing party and given the appropriate weight by the arbitrator.
  - vi. Witnesses will only be used to enter evidence relative to facts in dispute or for expert explanations and their testimony will be guided to the issues of fact. (Note: It is accepted and agreed that in a disciplinary hearing, the grievor is entitled to be present and give testimony without limitation as

noted above).

- The arbitrator shall have the same powers and authority as an arbitrator established under the provisions of the Collective Agreement and/or applicable federal legislation.
- m) Prior to rendering a decision, the arbitrator may at any time during the proceeding, assist the parties in mediating a resolution to the grievance.
- n) Bench and oral awards will be permitted with the consent of both parties, subject to later confirmation in writing.
- o) The written decision shall:
  - i. be issued to the parties within fourteen (14) calendar days of the hearing.
  - set forth a brief explanation of the facts and terms of the Collective Agreement and/or law, relied upon for the decision.
  - iii. be limited in application to the particular dispute and are without precedent or prejudice to future proceedings, unless otherwise agreed by the parties.

- iv. be final and binding on both parties, subject to either parties right to bring a judicial review application.
- v. be consistent with the terms of the Collective Agreement.
- p) Where deemed appropriate, based upon the parties' experience with the process of expedited arbitration, the foregoing may be altered subject to mutual agreement.

#### **ARTICLE 8 - NO STRIKE - NO LOCKOUT**

8.01 In view of the orderly procedure herein set forth for settling differences and grievances and as required by the Canada Labour Code, the Union and the employees agree that there shall be no strike, stoppage, slowdown or restriction of work or service, or threat thereof, during the term of the Agreement and that no employee shall take part in, instigate or threaten any such strike, stoppage, slowdown or restriction of work or service. However, it is understood that District Lodge 140 has a Policy that reads: "Work normally performed by a Member of District Lodge 140 deemed to be struck work as a result of an authorized strike under the Machinists' Constitution will not be done by another Member of District Lodge 140."

**8.02** In view of the orderly procedure herein set forth for settling differences and grievances and as required by the Canada Labour Code, the Company agrees that there shall be no lockout during the term of the Agreement.

# **ARTICLE 9 - SENIORITY**

9.01 The seniority of an employee means the length of his/her continuous service with the Company, as at the date of transition (November 1, 2011), since the date of his/her last hiring by the Company, i.e., day and time of first hour of paid work.

# Same Day Hiring

The seniority of employees hired on the same day (relative to the other employees hired on the same day) will be determined by a numbers draw. There will be double the numbers from which to draw as there are employees drawing. The highest number will be the most senior, etc. This draw will be done right after hiring during training with all involved employees present. The Union will be responsible for administering the draw and providing the Company with a copy of the results. If the Union cannot be present, the Union will appoint a designate to conduct the draw. Union Membership applications will be given out as part of the hiring package. Article 5.01 (e) will apply.

9.02 There will be a Company Service List composed of all employees for each Site, within the Region, based on date of hire, pursuant to Article 9.01.

The Company Service List will be used to determine entitlements to vacation and pay grade.

- a) In Vancouver there will be two (2) Classification Seniority Lists as follows:
  - Point Leader Seniority List composed of employees in the classification of Permanent Point Leader.
  - (ii) Screening Officer Seniority List composed of employees in the classification of Screening Officer.

The Point Leader Seniority List and the Screening Officer Seniority List will be used to determine the rights of employees in connection with other seniority based rights under the Agreement, including but not limited to layoff, recall, shift preference, vacation selection and overtime.

Persons on one seniority list do not accrue seniority on another list when

they are working in an acting or temporary capacity.

In the event of layoff, seniority on the Point Leader Seniority List cannot be used to displace employees in other classifications who are hired prior to the date of the CIRB (Canadian Industrial Relations Board) order which is November 27, 2008.

b) In all other Sites within the Region there shall be one Classification Seniority List for each Site, composed of all screening personnel, including Screening Officers and Point Leaders.

The Site Seniority Lists will be used to determine the rights of employees in connection with other seniority based rights under the Agreement, including but not limited to layoff, recall, shift preference, vacation selection and overtime.

- **9.03** The seniority of an employee shall be completely lost and his/her employment shall automatically be terminated if he/she:
  - a) quits; or,
  - b) is discharged and not reinstated in accordance with the provisions of the

Agreement; or,

- c) is absent from work for three (3) or more consecutive days without notifying the Manager unless he/she gives a reason satisfactory to the Manager for his/her failure to so notify the Company; or,
- d) is laid off for a period in excess of twentyfour (24) months; or,
- e) fails to notify the Management of his/her intention to return to work within seven (7) days of being given Notice of Recall under Article 11.02 or fails to return to work on the date of recall as set out in the Notice of Recall; or,
- f) works for another employer while absent from his/her employment with the Company except while on layoff, except when employees are on vacation or days off; or,
- g) uses an authorized Leave of Absence for a purpose other than that for which the Leave was granted; or,
- h) fails to return to work upon the expiration of an authorized Leave of Absence or vacation unless a reason satisfactory to Management is given; or,

 fails to qualify for the appropriate Canadian Air Transport Security Authority certification and/or Transport Canada designation (i.e. all routes will be expired before termination of seniority).

Note: The Company shall post notice of expire of the employee's Restricted Access Identification Card (RAIC) or Restricted Area Pass (RAP) and bi-annual CATSA Medical Certificate at least six (6) months prior to expiration of the RAIC/RAP and CATSA Medical Certificate. This provision is intended to be for administrative assistance only and will not be relied upon by the employee in relation to any claim for damages for lost wages or otherwise.

- **9.04** Within ninety (90) days after the signing of this Agreement, the Company shall post the Site Seniority Lists showing the seniority of each employee.
- 9.05 The Company will provide the Union with the current seniority lists showing each employee's seniority date, current address, email, phone number(s), classification and rate of pay, on February 15<sup>th</sup> of each year. An employee shall have thirty (30) days to challenge the applicable seniority list with

respect to his/her seniority. Thereafter, the seniority date of each employee shall be deemed to be conclusive.

Any modification to the seniority lists will only be made by agreement between the Company and the Union.

**9.06** The seniority of an employee who accepts a position with the Company outside of the Scope of the Agreement shall be forfeited.

#### <u>ARTICLE 10 - PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES</u>

10.01 Notwithstanding anything in the Agreement, a shall be considered person to probationary employee and he/she shall have no seniority until he/she has been employed for one hundred and twenty (120) consecutive calendar days after his/her first (1st) hour worked, at which time he/she shall become entitled to seniority dated from his/her most recent date of hire with the Company. The Company shall have the right to dismiss a probationary employee for cause, at the Company's sole discretion, at any time during the probationary period. The Company's exercise of its' discretion to discharge a probationary employee for cause shall not be subject to any grievance or arbitration, unless the discretion has been exercised in bad faith or contrary to the Canadian Human Rights Act.

#### **ARTICLE 11 - REDUCTION IN FORCE**

11.01 Should cause such as a fire, flood, explosion, Act of God, or any unforeseeable work stoppage by employees of an airline served by the Company, or circumstances beyond the control of the Company make it necessary to reduce the working force, the employees affected thereby shall be laid-off according to seniority with twenty-four (24) hours notice from the commencement of the work stoppage providing that seniority shall apply during such layoff. In the event of a partial resumption of operations, the employees affected shall be recalled by seniority.

#### Lay-off and Recalls

11.02 The Company has the right to lay-off employees to the extent it determines to be necessary. In the event of a lay-off, the Company shall lay-off in reverse order of classification seniority.

> The Company agrees to meet the Union in the event of a lay-off to discuss displacement rights.

> Recalls from such lay-offs shall be in order of classification seniority.

In the event of major operation changes the parties agree to meet and review the status of full-time and part-time positions prior to any lay-off.

An employee who has been laid-off shall be listed according to classification seniority after the date of lay-off and remain on the classification seniority list for recall for a maximum of twenty-four (24) months. If not recalled to work during that time, his/her name shall be removed from the seniority list.

- 11.03 The Company shall notify the Union as soon as possible prior to any lay-off. All employees shall receive at least fourteen (14) days notice of any lay-off, except in the case of lay-off as defined in Article 11.01.
- Recall shall be by personal interview (in 11.04 person or by phone) with the Company, and a representative designated by the Union, who may attend at their discretion. Notice of personal interviews will be provided to the Union as soon as possible, and the list of employees being recalled will be provided to the Union at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to any personal interviews occurring. Personal interviews will be scheduled at a mutually agreed time, however the Company proceed with the personal mav interview without a Union representative, if no response is received within twenty-four

(24) hours after notice was given to the Union. A letter of recall will be issued by email immediately following the personal interview, with a copy provided to the Union. The Union will be included in any email communication with the recalled employee. there is no acknowledgement or confirmation of acceptance from the recalled employee within twenty-four (24) hours of the personal interview or email being sent, a Letter of Recall will be sent to the employee by courier (with tracking) to the address last filed by the employee with the Company. Employees must keep the Company informed of any change of address by completing an Employee Information Change Form, and submitting it to human resources by email. All correspondence related to recall shall be deemed received three (3) business days following the date of the recall letter being couriered.

11.05 If within seven (7) calendar days after the date of receipt of Notice of Recall an employee shall have failed to notify the Company that he/she intends to return to work or to have satisfied the Company that he/she is unable to return because of accident or illness or other sufficient cause, he/she shall lose all seniority and his/her name shall be removed from the seniority list.

#### **ARTICLE 12 - TRANSFER**

- 12.01 If Management requests a (PL) qualified Screening Officer to work as an Acting Point Leader the employee shall receive premium pay, as outlined in Appendix A. The Acting Point Leader must be a scheduled (PL) qualified Screening Officer from the same point as the vacant Point Leader, subject to an Acting Point Leader being available from the same point. Seniority must be taken into account.
- 12.02 The seniority of an employee who transfers to a Screening Officer or Point Leader position at another IAM-certified Site shall be retained but not accrued in their original Bargaining Unit Site for a period of six (6) months, after that the original Bargaining Unit Site seniority will be lost.
  - e.g. A Screening Officer in Vancouver transfers to a Screening Officer vacancy in Victoria, the Screening Officers' seniority in Vancouver would be retained but not accrued for six (6) months. In the event the employee returns to a vacancy in Vancouver within the six (6) month period, his/her seniority would be adjusted for the period of absence and begin accruing again. If he/she does not return to a

vacancy in Vancouver within six (6) months, his/her seniority in Vancouver will be forfeited.

# Region-wide Transfers

12.03 Employees may submit a Letter of Preference, which will be kept on file with the Company for a period of one (1) year, which states the Site to which the employee would like to transfer.

Whenever a position becomes vacant at any IAM Certified Site and it is necessary to hire new staff, the Company will first consult the file containing Letters of Preference. Employees who have submitted a Letter of Preference for the applicable Site will be offered the vacancy based on Company Service, subject to qualification requirements. If two or more employees are considered equally qualified for this position, then the employee with the greater Company Service shall prevail.

If an employee is offered a position outside his/her home Site, the Company will not be responsible for any costs associated with the relocation. The employee will transfer his/her Company Service for vacation entitlement and placement upon the established pay grid for the applicable classification/position. The employee will establish a new seniority date at the new Site, based on the transfer acceptance date and move to the bottom of the seniority list, which applies to employees in connection with other seniority based rights under the Agreement, including but not limited to layoff, recall, shift preference, vacation selection and overtime, as provided for in Article 9.02. Employees shall be provided with written confirmation of their transfer acceptance date by the Company.

# **Canada-wide Transfers**

- 12.04 In the event the Company becomes the Service Provider in an additional Region, employees may submit a Letter of Preference, which will be kept on file with the Company for a period of one (1) year, which states the Site to which the employee would like to transfer, provided the Collective Bargaining Agreement at that Site permits.
- **12.05** For the above Articles, the Company will endeavour to notify the Union at least two (2) weeks prior to any advertisement to filling open and new positions.

# **ARTICLE 13 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE**

- 13.01 The Company may grant a Personal Leave of Absence, including for educational purposes, without pay for a period not exceeding sixty (60) calendar days to an employee provided that:
  - a) the employee gives notice in writing to Management of his/her request for a Leave of Absence at least thirty (30) calendar days prior to the proposed commencement of the Leave of Absence (except in the case of emergency); and,
  - b) in the judgement of the Company, up to eight percent (8%) of the workforce at the Site will be eligible to be on Leave of Absence at any given time, provided the proposed Leave of Absence can be arranged without undue inconvenience to normal operations.
  - When such Leave is granted, the employee shall retain and accrue his/her seniority, pursuant to the IAM Constitution and/or Local Lodge Bylaws.
  - d) In no case shall a Leave of Absence be granted to an employee for the purpose

of working for another employer or selfemployment.

- 13.02 Applicants must indicate, on forms provided by the Company, the reason(s) for their request for Leave of Absence and the expected dates of departure and return when giving notice of their request for a Leave of Absence.
- 13.03 Where a Leave of Absence has been requested at least thirty (30) calendar days before the requested Leave in accordance with Article 13.01 (a), the Company shall notify, in writing, both the applicant and the Union, of its decision at least fourteen (14) calendar days before the date of commencement of the requested Leave of Absence, all other requested Leaves shall be processed as soon as reasonably possible.

The Company has agreed that Leaves of Absence will be administered on the following basis:

- a) Requests must be made in accordance with Article 13.01 (a).
- Pending unapproved requests for Leaves of Absence shall be granted on the basis of seniority.

c) When returning from Leave of Absence, the employee shall be placed on the same shift, which they left. The Company has thirty (30) days to place the employee back on their original shift. In the event there has been a new shift bid in the interim, the employee shall be placed, on the nearest comparable shift based on his/her seniority.

# **ARTICLE 14 - BEREAVEMENT LEAVE**

14.01 An employee is entitled to up to ten (10) days of bereavement leave in the event of an immediate family member's death to be taken in one (1) or two (2) periods, at any time starting the day following the death and ending six (6) weeks after the funeral, burial or memorial service. Employees who have been employed by the Company for three (3) consecutive months will be granted, the first three (3) working days off with pay. "Immediate Family" is as defined below.

An additional one (1) working day with pay will be granted to an employee in respect of the death of the following family members:

- a) the employee's spouse or common-law partner;
- b) the employee's father and mother and

the spouse or common-law partner of the father or mother;

- the father and mother of the spouse or common-law partner of the employee and the spouse or common-law partner of the father or mother;
- d) the employee's children and the children of the employee's spouse or common-law partner;
- e) the brother and sister of the employee.

If the employee is notified of a death in his/her Immediate Family while working, he/she shall be relieved from duty, upon the request of the employee. The employee will be paid for the balance of his/her shift, in addition to the provision entitlements above.

The Company may grant an additional Leave of Absence without pay, at the written request of the employee if in the judgment of the Company, such Leave of Absence can be arranged without undue inconvenience to normal operations. The Company may require proof of death or burial from individuals if they suspect abuse of these benefits.

# Note: For further clarity, Immediate Family means, in respect of the employee:

- a) the employee's spouse or common-law partner;
- b) the employee's father and mother and the spouse or common-law partner of the father or mother;
- c) the employee's children and the children of the employee's spouse or common-law partner;
- d) the aunt and uncle of spouse and employee;
- e) the employee's grandparents and the grandparents of the employee's spouse or common-law partner;
- the employee's grandchildren and the grandchildren of the employee's spouse or common-law partner;
- g) the father and mother of the spouse or common-law partner of the father or mother; and,
- h) the brother and sister of the employee or the brother and sister of the spouse or common-law partner of the employee.

# ARTICLE 15 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE FOR UNION BUSINESS

- 15.01 The Company may grant a Leave of Absence, without pay, to not more than three percent (3%) of employees, or five (5) employees, whichever is higher at the Site, to represent the Union at Union conventions, seminars and education classes provided the Company is given at least ten (10) days advance Notice in Writing by the Union and, in the judgment of the Company, such Leave of Absence can be arranged without undue inconvenience to normal operations.
- 15.02 The Company will grant a Leave of Absence, without pay, to not more than four (4) Members of the Grievance Committee for the purpose of preparing for arbitration under Article 7 or mediation under Article 6.07 or other Union business provided the Company is given at least seven (7) calendar days advance Notice in Writing by the Union.
- 15.03 The Company will grant a Leave of Absence, with pay to Members of the Union's Negotiating Committee for the purposes set out in Article 5.01 (a) provided the Company is given, at least, seven (7) days advance notice, in writing, by the Union.

15.04 An employee accepting full-time employment with the District Lodge 140 of the Union, as a representative of the employees covered by this Agreement, shall be granted an unpaid Leave of Absence by the Company for the duration of their employment. An employee on a Leave of Absence for this purpose will continue to accrue seniority and Company service in accordance with all provisions of the Agreement. Any accrued sick leave and/or vacation earnings will be paid out at the commencement of the Leave and will not resume accrual until the employee returns from the unpaid Leave of Absence.

#### **ARTICLE 16 - PARENTAL LEAVE**

- **16.01** a) Maternity Leave shall be as per Canada Labour Code requirements.
  - b) Parental Leave shall be as per the Canada Labour Code.
  - c) Compassionate Care Leave as per the Canada Labour Code.
  - d) One day off with pay during the birth of a child.
- 16.02 The employee shall give the Company four (4) weeks' notice, in writing, of the day upon which she intends to commence Maternity Leave and a certificate of a qualified medical

practitioner stating that she is pregnant and the estimated date of her confinement.

- 16.03 An employee who does not apply for Leave, as set forth in Article 16.02, and who is otherwise entitled to Maternity Leave, shall be granted an unpaid Leave of Absence under Article 16.01, upon providing the Company with a certificate of a qualified medical practitioner, stating that she was not able to perform her work because of an unexpected medical condition directly attributable to pregnancy and the date of confinement.
- 16.04 Where the employee intends to resume his/her employment with the Company upon the expiration of the Leave granted, in accordance with the provisions of Article 16, the Company shall reinstate him/her to his/her former position within thirty (30) days and wages and benefits will remain the same.

# **ARTICLE 17 - HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME**

- 17.01 It is understood and agreed that the parties will work together to make the shift schedules work to the benefit of both parties.
  - Employees shall receive the maximum amount of scheduled hours up to forty (40) hours per week, based on seniority.

- b) Shift preference will be bid based upon an employee's classification seniority and qualifications (HBS/PBS/NPSV) in the case of posted open shift bids and general shift bids, but all employees will be subject to the standard rotation and site staffing requirements, as per management's discretion.
- c) The minimum hours of pay for any shift for which an employee is dispatched shall be four (4) hours providing the employee is not removed for just cause. This Clause may be amended by mutual agreement.
- d) The Company will arrange schedules to meet its contractual and to commitments cater fluctuations and changes to airline schedules. airport and Should requirements. no mutual agreement be reached by the Joint Scheduling Committee on the proposed schedule, the appeal process will be moved to appropriate Director and the Bargaining Agent who, within seventytwo (72) hours will render a decision. Where no mutual agreement can be reached, the Company may implement the schedule, and the matter will be referred to expedited arbitration at the Union's discretion

- Rest days shall be consecutive, as far as possible, it being understood that the Company will make every reasonable effort to provide consecutive rest days.
- f) Shift schedule start times shall be consistent (ie. the same start time each day), as far as possible, it being understood that the Company will make every reasonable effort to provide consistent start times.
- g) Split shifts shall only be utilized at Class Other (3) Sites, where the operational requirements warrant.
- h) Shift durations will only be comprised of the following shift lengths: 4, 5, 6, 8, 10 or 12 hours, unless otherwise mutually agreed between the Company and the Union. Shift durations comprised of 4 and 5 hour shift lengths will not be utilized at the Vancouver, Victoria, and Kelowna bargaining units.
- i) The Company will provide the Union with the shift schedules as established for the purpose of the Union to conduct and administer the shift bids, without loss of wages to representatives of the Union. The Company is entitled to be present during the administration of the shift bid.

- j) The Union will have ten (10) calendar days upon receipt of the schedule to return the completed shift bids to the Company.
- k) Should the Union fail to return the completed shift bids to the Company within the ten (10) calendar day time line the Company will take over and complete the shift bid.
- The Company will post shift awards seven (7) calendar days prior to the schedule's effective date.
- m) Shift schedules will be implemented at the commencement of the work week in accordance with Article 17.02. The Joint Scheduling Committee will meet prior to the implementation of any new shift schedule to equalize an employee's schedule, in accordance with Article 17.01, at the written request of an employee. Should the Company be unable to equalize an employee's schedule, and they are scheduled to work in excess of forty (40) hours, they shall be compensated as outlined in Article 17.08. No employee shall suffer any loss of regular earnings as a result of equalization.

to be implemented in or about April and October or as otherwise required at a Site level. The Company and the Union acknowledge that the shift bid process will commence prior to the date the shift schedules are to be finalized posted. In the event of a major change operational in the bona fide affecting requirements. the bid schedule, the Company and Union will meet to discuss the change and review the documentary evidence supporting the change, in an effort to reach a mutually satisfactory resolution minimize the frequency of shift bids. the Company and Union are unable to reach a mutually satisfactory resolution, the Company may require an additional shift bid(s) in the calendar year, which will be conducted in accordance with Article 17.01. employee who has submitted 0)

A shift bid process will take place at least twice (2) per year with schedules

documentation to be granted accommodation for modified hours that will last sixty (60) calendar days or more after the commencement of a shift bid. will not bid. Instead the Company, Union, and employee will meet immediately shift after the bid is concluded a suitable shift for the determine

employee, which takes into consideration the employee's seniority, that is in keeping with the employee's limitations and restrictions. It is understood that the parties must work together to find a reasonable accommodation to the point of undue hardship.

17.02 For the purpose of Article 17.01, a day shall commence at the start of an employee's shift and shall end twenty-four (24) hours later. Employees shall receive at least eight (8) hours of consecutive rest in any twenty-four (24) hour period. A week shall commence at 12:01 a.m. Sunday and end at 12 midnight on Saturday.

#### 17.03 <u>Breaks</u>

- a) Employees who work four (4) hours or less in a day will be entitled to one (1) fifteen (15) minute paid break.
- b) Employees who work more than four (4) hours in a day will be entitled to two (2) fifteen (15) minute paid breaks.
- c) Employees who work six (6) hours in a day will be entitled to a thirty (30) minute paid meal break to be taken between the third (3rd) and fourth (4th) hours and one (1) fifteen minute paid break to be

taken between the second (2nd) and third (3rd) hours. Break timing may be altered due to emergency situations and abnormal situations that may arise from time to time.

- d) Employees who work eight (8) hours in a day will be entitled to a thirty (30) minute paid meal break to be taken between the fourth (4th) and sixth (6th) hours and two (2) fifteen (15) minute paid breaks to be taken between the second (2nd) and fourth (4th) hours and the sixth (6th) and eighth (8th) hours. Break timing may be altered due to emergency situations and abnormal situations that may arise from time to time.
- e) Employees who work ten (10) hours in a day will be entitled to one (1) thirty (30) minute paid meal break to be taken between the fourth (4th) and sixth (6th) hours and three (3) paid fifteen (15) minute breaks to be taken between the second (2nd) and fourth (4th) hours, the sixth (6th) and eighth (8th) hours and the eighth (8th) and tenth (10th) hour. Break timing may be altered due to emergency situations and abnormal situations that may arise from time to time.

- f) Employees who work twelve (12) hours in a day will be entitled to one (1) thirty (30) minute paid meal break to be taken between the fourth (4th) and sixth (6th) hours and four (4) paid breaks to be taken between the second (2nd) and fourth (4th) hours, the sixth (6th) and eighth (8th) hours, the eighth (8th) and tenth (10th) hour and the tenth (10th) and twelfth (12th) hour. Break timing may be altered due to emergency situations and abnormal situations that may arise from time to time.
- g) Should the final paid break be administered in the last thirty (30) minutes of the employee's scheduled shift, the employee will be excused from work immediately with pay to the end of the scheduled shift.
- h) Should the Company fail to administer breaks within the provisions set out above and a break is missed, the duration of the missed break will be paid at the rate of double time (2.0) their normal rate of pay, in addition to the employee's scheduled shift length.
- **17.04** In the event of a layoff, the provisions of Article 11 will apply.

**17.05** The Company will post work schedules at least seven (7) calendar days in advance of the implementation of the work schedule.

# **Shift Bid Modifications:**

The Company may change posted work schedules due to changes in airline schedules, airport or CATSA requirements, in which case the Company will meet with the Union Shift Bid Committee to provide supporting documentation to demonstrate that the changes are necessarv accordance with the above reasoning. the event that a change is required, the affected employee(s) shall be provided with at least seven (7) calendar days written notice before such change is implemented. The Company will make every reasonable effort to avoid adjusting employee's bid shift start and/or stop time, however, if start and/or stop time changes are unavoidable, an employee's bid schedule may be modified up to a maximum of thirty (30) minutes, one (1) time per shift bid, on a temporary or permanent basis. otherwise agreed with the Modifications shall not result in a change of rest days or a reduction in hours. Company agrees to accomplish the schedule change on a voluntary basis by classification seniority order qualifications (HBS/PBS/NPSV). If there are

insufficient volunteers, the principles of reverse order of classification seniority and qualifications (HBS/PBS/NPSV) will apply in the adjustment of shift schedules to the group of employee(s) working the identified scheduled start/stop times that are being modified.

Employee requests for shift modifications must be detailed in writing and provided to the Joint Scheduling Committee for consideration.

# 17.06 Filling of Vacant Lines and Additional Shifts:

Vacant Lines: Means any new shift lines or lines vacant for any reason, including but not limited to, injury, illness, approved leave of absence, vacation, resignation, retirement or termination, etc.

### Process for filling vacant lines anticipated to be greater than sixty (60) days in duration:

- a) Bid as a complete line.
- b) All employees are eligible to bid.
- Awarded on a voluntary basis by classification seniority order and qualifications (HBS/PBS/NPSV).

- d) Posted for seven (7) calendar days and awarded immediately following the close of posting.
- e) The employee will begin working the vacant line at the commencement of the next work week, in accordance with Article 17.02, unless otherwise mutually agreed between the Company and the employee.

Lines vacated as a result of the above vacant line posting process will be reposted, in accordance with the above, to a maximum of two (2) postings, including the initial posting, following which vacant lines will be offered under the process for filling vacant lines anticipated to be less than sixty (60) days, as provided below.

- Process for filling vacant lines and vacant shifts, which remain operationally required and are anticipated to be less than sixty (60) days in duration:
  - a) Posted shifts will not be offered at less than the original length of the bid shift. If there are no eligible volunteers for the prescribed shift offered, then the shift may be offered in the form of hours, in

- consultation with the Joint Scheduling Committee.
- All employees with less than forty (40) scheduled hours per week are eligible to bid.
- c) Awarded on a voluntary basis classification seniority order and qualifications (HBS/PBS/NPSV).
- d) Additional shifts/hours will be awarded to a maximum of twelve (12) hours in a day and to a maximum of forty (40) hours per week.
- e) The minimum rest provisions of Article 17.02 apply in the awarding of available additional shifts/hours.
- f) Posted for not less that seventy-two (72) hours and awarded immediately following the close of posting. All postings will occur at 09:00 am on the posting date.

#### **Additional Hours:**

3. Where additional schedule hours become available, the Joint Scheduling Committee will meet to review and discuss how to best

allocate the hours for employees, to ensure the maximization of hours in accordance with the provisions of Article 17.01(a).

- All employees with less than forty (40) hours per week are eligible to bid.
- Awarded on a voluntary basis by classification seniority order and qualifications (HBS/PBS/NPSV).
- Additional shifts/hours will be awarded to a maximum of twelve (12) hours in a day and to a maximum of forty (40) hours per week.
- d) The minimum rest provisions of Article 17.02 apply in the awarding of available additional shifts/hours.
- e) Posted for not less than seventy-two (72) hours and awarded immediately following the close of posting. All postings will occur at 09:00 am on the posting date.

The Joint Scheduling Committee will meet weekly, or as otherwise required, to review and discuss scheduling issues, including the determination of whether or not vacant lines and additional shifts are operationally required, and to determine how to best allocate the hours for employees, to ensure the maximization of hours in accordance with the provisions of Article 17.01(a).

# 17.07 Overtime

When employees are requested to work overtime beyond their normal shift, the following conditions will prevail:

- All employees shall be compensated for authorized overtime hours worked at one and one-half (1 1/2) times their regular rate provided an employee has completed forty (40) hours work during the week.
- b) If an employee books off for a shift and is called in to work, he/she will only receive the overtime rate once he/she has exceeded forty (40) hours for the week.
- c) If overtime is billable to CATSA and the employee has not completed forty (40) hours of regular time for the week due to his/her regular scheduled shift (i.e., not as a result of booking off, etc.) then the extra hours worked will be at overtime.

- d) Employees will be paid for any hours spent in training, testing and certification, which hours may qualify for overtime pay pursuant to Article 17.07(a).
- e) The Company may not be able to advise an employee of the meeting of the conditions laid out in (a), (b), and (c) above as the overtime qualifier may occur after the extra hours are worked and is only determined at the completion of a work week.
- f) Employees shall have the right to refuse overtime. When overtime is required and no employee accepts to work such overtime, the junior employee shall be required to work such overtime, pursuant to the provisions of Same Day Overtime, Item (v).
- g) Should an employee be bypassed in error for overtime, the onus of proof to be provided by said employee and the Company would be required to pay the overtime hours missed.
- h) Notwithstanding the provisions of Article(s) 17.07 (a), (b), and (c), employees shall be compensated for all hours worked in excess of his/her regularly scheduled shift at a rate of one

and one half (1 1/2) times the employee's regular rate of pay, or as otherwise prescribed in Article 17.08 and Article 19, for all Same Day Overtime hours worked, regardless of whether or not the employee has or will complete forty (40) hours during the work week.

 In order to accelerate the selection for voluntary overtime, employees will indicate their availability for overtime by signing, as appropriate, in the daily overtime book or by other electronic means that are agreed between the Company and the Union, and communicated in writing to employees.

The Company will solicit overtime in classification seniority order based on the classification of work required, as specified in Article 9.02, i.e., if the work to be performed is that of the Point Leader Classification, then the overtime assignment will be solicited from the Point Leader Classification.

If the work to be performed is specific to a NPSV or HBS qualification, and the redeployment of employees on shift that possess the required qualification to perform the work has been exhausted, then the Company may solicit on the basis of the NPSV or HBS qualification in seniority order, as outlined below.

The Company will ensure that on-duty employees in the daily overtime book will be contacted at their respective work location and directly offered the overtime.

# Same Day Overtime

This is the order to be called in for Same Day Overtime based on seniority:

- Employees on shift.
- ii) Employees coming on shift.
- iii) Employees on a Regular Scheduled Day Off that have indicated their availability for overtime.
- iv) When the above process has been exhausted, and the lack of volunteers for Same Day Overtime would result in the closure of a required checkpoint, employees on shift at the site will be assigned to work in reverse order of seniority, in accordance with Article 17.07 (f), to a maximum of two (2) hours beyond his/her scheduled shift, unless otherwise agreed between the

Company and the employee. An employee will be paid a minimum rate of two times (2.0), his/her regular hourly rate, if less than two (2) hours notice of the assignment is provided by the Company, or an otherwise prescribed in Article 17.08 (c), whichever is greater. An employee will not be required to work if it interferes with a legitimate family responsibility or transportation requirement.

Note: At Regional Sites the parties may mutually agree to first solicit employees on shift in the sign-up book, as opposed to employees on shift. Such agreement must be communicated in writing to employees at the Site.

# **Next Day Overtime**

Next Day Overtime may be solicited up to three (3) days in advance of the requirement.

In an effort to equally distribute Next Day Overtime to all employees while respecting seniority, the Company will offer overtime hours in the following manner.

Employees wishing to be solicited for Regular Scheduled Day off overtime must indicate their availability in the sign-up book or by other electronic means that are agreed between the Company and the Union, and communicated in writing to employees, no later than 16:00 on the Friday preceding the start of the week being solicited, as defined in Article 17.02.

When soliciting Next Day Overtime, each week as defined in Article 17.02, the Company will canvass employees that indicate their availabity for overtime, in seniority order for their first extra shift on their Regular Scheduled Day Off before canvassing an employee for their second extra shift on their Regular Scheduled Day Off. Similarly, the Company will canvass all employees in the sign-up book in seniority order for either their first or second extra shift on their Regular Scheduled Day Off before canvassing an employee for their third or subsequent extra shift on their Regular Scheduled Day Off.

The Company will solicit Next Day Overtime between the hours of 10:00 and 14:00 or as mutually agreed between the Company and the Union at each site and communicated in writing to employees.

This is the order to be called in for Next Day Overtime based on seniority:

- Employees on a Regular Scheduled Day Off that have indicated their availabity for overtime.
- ii) Seniority list.

Note: It is understood that the minimum dispatch provisions of Article 17.01 (c) apply with respect to rest day overtime.

- 17.08 Employees who work in addition to their regular weekly shift shall be paid the following for the hours worked by the employee in excess of forty (40) hours work during the week:
  - a) during their first extra shift, one and onehalf (1 1/2) times their regular rate of pay;
  - b) during their second extra shift, two (2) times their regular rate of pay; and,
  - c) during their third extra shift, three (3) times their regular rate of pay.

In computing remuneration for time worked, hours compensated at overtime rates shall not be pyramided, duplicated or counted further for any purpose in obtaining additional payment.

- 17.09 If any employee is required to work unscheduled overtime, of which he/she is not notified in advance of commencement of his/her regular shift, and the employee works beyond two (2) hours overtime, the employee shall receive a food per diem of fifteen dollars (\$15.00), payable on the employee's next pay cheque.
- 17.10 An employee who reports for work as scheduled is entitled to four (4) hours pay if no work is available and he/she has not been advised in advance except in cases beyond the Company's control. This Article may be amended by mutual agreement.
- 17.11 All time spent in attendance at any proceeding, arising out of actions performed on behalf of the Company or the Company's client, shall be paid at the applicable rate, upon direction and approval from the Company. Monies from the Court shall be reimbursed to the Company. Necessary expenses incurred by the employee will be reimbursed by the Company on a receipted basis.

# **Court Appearance**

If an employee is subpoenaed to appear in Court in a matter relating to the conduct of the employee's duties, he/she will be paid for such appearance and the Union will be notified prior to the appearance.

#### **Citizenship Court**

Time spent at Citizenship Court is limited to the day of the swearing in only, and payment shall be straight time pay for those who are normally required to work on the day of the employees' swearing in.

17.12 An employee who leaves work due to a WorkSafe BC related injury or illness, which requires offsite treatment and prevents a return to work, shall be paid for the balance of his/her regular or scheduled shift on the day of the injury or illness.

# 17.13 Shift Trade / Shift Give Away Policy

The purpose of shift trades/shift give aways is to reduce absenteeism by allowing employees to handle unexpected situations and/or personal matters that conflict with their work schedule. Employee(s) may engage in shift trades/shift give aways, provided they are not giving away their job.

 a) If an employee on his/her days off agrees to work another employee's shift, that employee shall be paid his/her normal straight time wage for that day.

- b) Both employees must sign a "shift change sheet" and submit it to Management for approval a minimum of seventy-two (72) hours in advance of affected shift. Management will respond in writing within 36 hours of receipt. Emergency requests shall be addressed on a case by case basis.
- c) Both employees must be equally certified where operational an requirement exists within the schedule, (e.g.: employees who are CTX certified and are scheduled to operate CTX, must shift trade/shift give away to a CTX certified employee). If the employees are not equally certified (CTX) as required by the work schedule, Management may authorize the shift change. subject to operational requirements.
- The employee signing to work that shift is responsible for that shift.
- e) No employee shall be eligible for a shift trade/shift pick up if they have worked, or will work, a shift of eight (8) hours or more before the shift trade/shift pick up, or after the shift trade/shift pick up.
- f) The Company will not incur overtime unless the employee goes over the

regular scheduled hours for that day, e.g., over eight (8) hour shift, ten (10) hour shift, etc.

- g) The Labour Relations Committee will meet to discuss the shift trade/shift pick up process as required.
- h) If an employee receives a No Show/No Call (NSNC) for failure to notify the Company of his/her absence and report for a shift trade/shift pick up, he/she will lose their shift trade/shift give away privileges for ninety (90) calendar days, unless he/she are able to substantiate that the NSNC was due to extenuating circumstances, beyond the employee's control.

# 17.14 Training Assignments:

In the event an employee is required to travel to another Site for the purposes of training related to certification, re-certification, or additional qualifications the following provisions shall apply:

# **Hours of Work, Pay and Travel:**

 Employees shall be provided with not less than seven (7) calendar days notice in writing, with a copy to the Union.

- Employees will continue to be covered by the Collective Agreement as though they are working at their own Site.
- 3. Employee rest days will not be modified without the consent of the employee.
- If an employee travels on or attends training on a scheduled rest day, they shall be compensated in accordance with Article 17.07 and 17.08.
  - a. Employees will be paid a minimum of four (4) hours of travel time, for each occurrence of travel (i.e. four (4) hours pay for the trip to the location, and four (4) hours pay for the return trip home).
  - b. Where any occurrence of travel time exceeds four (4) hours, the Company will pay for the extra hours in accordance with Article 17.07 and 17.08, unless the extra time was caused by a factor within the control of the employee.
- For travel that occurs on a regularly scheduled day:

- Employees will be paid for the length of their regular scheduled shift.
- b. If the total time spent travelling plus working exceeds the length of the regular scheduled shift, the Company will pay for the extra hours in accordance with Article 17.07 and 17.08, unless the extra time was caused by a factor within the control of the employee.
- The Company will book and pay for all travel on behalf of the employee.

# **Accommodation:**

- The standard for accommodation is a single hotel room, in a safe environment, conveniently located and comfortably equipped.
- The Company shall ensure that employees are provided with shuttle service between the hotel, airport, or training facility.
- The Company will book and pay for all accommodations on behalf of the employee.

#### Per Diem:

- A daily per diem of sixty-five dollars (\$65.00) will be paid to an employee in advance of the estimated date of travel for the period of the training assignment, including travel on rest days, where the assignment exceeds one (1) day in duration. Per diems for training assignments of one (1) day will be paid to an employee on the next regular pay deposit.
- 2. The provisions of Article 20.08 shall apply to the payment of per diems.

## Personal Vehicle Use:

- Where it is mutually agreed that an employee will use their personal vehicle for travel associated with a training assignment, they shall be paid a kilometer allowance equal to the prescribed rate established by the Canada Revenue Agency.
- The employee shall travel the most direct, safe, practical and accessible road routes and shall claim only for distances necessarily driven for the purposes of the training assignment.

 The mileage allowance will be paid at the applicable per kilometer rate to the employee within two (2) weeks of the end of the assignment.

# **ARTICLE 18 - VACATION WITH PAY**

18.01 All employees shall be entitled to an annual vacation with pay based on continuous employment with the Company as of December 31st of every year, based on gross earnings in the preceding vacation year, in accordance with the following:

YEARS OF SERVICE AT DECEMBER 31	VACATION ENTITLEMENT	VACATION BID REQUIREMENTS	VACATION PAY
Completion of 1 year but less than 4 years	2 weeks	2 weeks	4%
Completion of 4 years but less than 7 years	3 weeks	2 weeks	6%
Completion of 7 years but less than 11 years	6 weeks	3 weeks	8%
Completion of 11 years but Less than 14 years	6 weeks	3 weeks	10%
Completion of 14 years	7 weeks	3 weeks	14%

18.02 "Vacation Year" means the twelve (12) month period between January 1st and December 31st. For the purposes of vacations in a year, calculations of continuous employment with the Company and gross earnings shall be made as of December 31st of that year.

#### 18.03 Vacation Selection

- a) Vacation preferences will be allocated in order of seniority within each classification, pursuant to Article 9.02.
- Each employee must bid the minimum vacation bid requirement, in accordance with Article 18 01
- Employees may split their vacation c) entitlement into blocks of not less than one (1) week. In such cases, an employee's first preference will be in order of classification seniority with the his/her awarding of subsequent preferences occurring after all other employees have made their selection in selection rounds one (1) and two (2). Commencing in selection round three (3), employees may select all remaining preferences. These subsequent preferences will continue to be awarded in order of classification seniority.
- d) On October 1<sup>st</sup> of each year the Company will post a bulletin listing employees in order of classification seniority and showing each employee's total vacation entitlement for the upcoming vacation year.

 e) Prior to September 15<sup>th</sup> of each year the Company and the Union will meet to establish the vacation ratio as follows:

# In each Regional Site (applies to all Class 2 and Class Other 3 Sites):

- The total weeks of vacation entitlement, divided by fifty-two (52) weeks, plus a ten percent (10%) variant rounded according to standardized rounding principles, i.e. 5.5 rounds up to 6, 5.4 rounds down to 5.
- Vacation week start and stop dates may be altered to align with rest day patterns, on a site level, with mutual agreement.

#### In the Vancouver Site:

The Company and Union shall establish i) the vacation ratios and allocate vacation entitlement for each week of the calendar year by mutual agreement for each classification, identified in Article parties 9.02. The will take consideration the total number employees, the total combined vacation entitlement of all employees as of December 31st of the previous year and the historical utilization of vacation entitlement for each classification to establish a fixed flat line ratio for prime and non-prime periods.

 Vacation week start and stop dates may be altered to align with rest day patterns, with mutual agreement.

The agreed vacation ratios for each site will be posted by October 1st.

- For payroll purposes, a vacation week is defined in accordance Article 17.02.
- g) Employees will select vacation preferences by a means established by the Union, no later than November 30<sup>th</sup> of each year. Such selection is to be noted by each employee in order of their classification seniority with the most senior employee noting their vacation selection first and the most junior last, in each selection round. The rounds shall be as follows:
  - Round 1 vacation selection will commence October 15<sup>th</sup>; the first round vacation selection results will be posted no later than October 30<sup>th</sup>.
  - Round 2 vacation selection will commence November 1<sup>st</sup>; the second round vacation selection results will be posted no later than

November 15th.

- iii. Round 3 vacation selection will commence November 16<sup>th</sup>; the third round vacation selection results will be posted no later than November 30<sup>th</sup>.
- iv. Any requirements for further selection rounds will be mutually agreed between the Company and the Union at a site level.

Note: The above timelines for vacation selection may be amended by mutual agreement at a site level between the Company and Union, provided the amended timelines are communicated in writing to the affected employees with at least fourteen (14) days' notice.

- Employees who expect to be absent during the vacation bid will advise the Company and Union in writing of their selections prior to their absence or submit a proxy form.
- An employee who fails to select their vacation preferences, in accordance with Clauses 18.01 and 18.03 (b) during the vacation selection process will be allocated vacation dates by the Company from those that are available,

at the conclusion of all vacation bidding. Employee(s) will be provided with a minimum of thirty (30) calendar days written notice of any allocated vacation dates. Allocated vacation dates are considered ad-hoc and are subject to the provisions of Item (o) of this agreement.

- j) Bid vacation periods will not be altered after having been approved without local agreement between the Company and the Union.
- k) The dates for prime vacation periods will be specified each year by agreement between the Company and the Union and are defined as follows:
  - i) 2 weeks Spring Break (late March, early April)
  - ii) 10 Weeks July/August
  - iii) 3 Weeks End of December
- Vacation bid in each selection round prior to December 31<sup>st</sup> may be cancelled and/or changed one (1) time during the vacation year, with the exception of vacation in the prime vacation weeks, which cannot be cancelled.
- m) A minimum of fourteen (14) calendar days written notice to the Company and

- the Union is required to cancel vacation bid during non-prime vacation periods.
- n) Vacation bid on an ad-hoc basis during the vacation year it is being taken cannot be cancelled and/or changed, unless mutually agreed between the Company and the Union.
- o) Notwithstanding the above cancellation provisions, the provisions of Clause 18.05 shall apply in the event an employee is unable to commence or complete his/her scheduled vacation period due to injury or illness, including Workers' Compensation. Refer to Clause 18.05 for application.
- p) Any vacant prime vacation periods, occurring as a result of resignation, termination, or transfer or an increase in the vacation ratio, will be posted on Company bulletin boards for seven (7) calendar days and awarded on the basis of classification seniority.
- q) Following the initial vacation bid, all unbid vacant vacation periods (including un-bid posted prime vacation periods) shall be awarded on a first come first served basis with a minimum of seven (7) calendar days written notice. The Company agrees to maintain a weekly

posting of available un-bid vacation weeks in a location accessible to all employees.

- r) Any un-bid vacation entitlement must be taken prior to the utilization of a Personal Leave of Absence, as outlined in Article 13. The provision does not apply to Personal Leaves of Absence for medical reasons or for Leaves prescribed in Article(s) 14 and 16.
- s) Should the vacation selection process outlined in Clause 18.03 (a), result in a shortage of EDX/CTX qualified employees, the parties agree to meet and discuss options to address the temporary shortfall.
- 18.04 All employees shall receive their outstanding vacation pay by separate deposit on the second regular pay day in February each year, calculated up to the end of the preceding calendar year.

Where written notification is received by the Company by December 1<sup>st</sup> in the preceding calendar year, vacation pay can be contributed directly to the employee's RRSP on the first regular pay day in January of each year.

Employees who request vacation pay in writing prior to the established payroll cut-off deadline shall receive their vacation pay on the following pay date.

Employees who request vacation pay at the time vacation is taken shall receive vacation pay for the absence.

18.05 An employee who is unable to commence or complete his/her scheduled vacation period due to injury or illness, including Workers' Compensation, shall be awarded a new vacation period upon return to duty. The employee must provide a doctor's certificate to verify all absences under this clause. However, if the employee does not return to duty on or before December 1st of any year, he/she shall receive the pay in lieu of the vacation earned but not taken.

# **ARTICLE 19 - PAID HOLIDAYS**

19.01 For the purposes of this Agreement, the following days are recognized as paid Statutory Holidays.

> New Year's Day Good Friday Easter Monday Victoria Day Canada Day B.C. Day

Labour Day Truth & Reconciliation Day Thanksgiving Day Remembrance Day Christmas Day Boxing Day The above list of recognized Statutory Holidays will automatically be amended to include any newly legislated Federal Statutory Holidays, during the life of the Agreement.

- 19.02 The parties may agree to designate a day other than the calendar day for the observance of a paid Statutory Holiday provided that when an alternative day is so designated the provisions of Article 19 shall apply to the alternative day and not the calendar day of the Statutory Holiday.
- 19.03 No employee is entitled to be paid for a Statutory Holiday on which he/she does not work when he/she was not entitled to wages for at least one hundred and twenty (120) hours during the thirty (30) calendar days immediately preceding the holiday. Notwithstanding the previous sentence, the employee is entitled to be paid 1/20th of the wages he/she has earned during the thirty (30) calendar days immediately preceding that Statutory Holiday.
- 19.04 An employee who qualifies for Statutory Holiday pay in accordance with Article 19.03 and is not required by the Company to work on any of the above Statutory Holidays, shall be paid the equivalent of the wages he/she would have earned at his/her regular basic hourly rate for his/her normal hours of work.

19.05 An employee who qualifies for Statutory Holiday pay in accordance with Article 19.03 and is required by the Company to work on a regularly scheduled shift on any of the above Statutory Holidays, shall be paid one and one-half (1 1/2) times his/her regular basic hourly rate for time worked during his/her normal hours of work on such Statutory Holiday in addition to his/her pay under Article 19.04. Any hours worked by an employee on a Statutory Holiday before or after his/her regularly scheduled shift will be paid at the rate of double (2.0) time.

When an employee volunteers to work a Statutory Holiday on his/her regularly scheduled rest day, the overtime rates prescribed in Article 17.08 shall apply.

- 19.06 If any of the above Statutory Holidays are observed by the Company while an employee is on a scheduled vacation or on his/her regular day off, the Company shall compensate the employee on the following basis:
  - a) the equivalent of the wages he/she would have earned at his/her regular basic hourly rate for his/her normal hours of work; or,
  - a day off with pay, in accordance with (a) above, in lieu of the Statutory Holiday.

Such day may be taken in conjunction with his/her vacation or at some other mutually agreeable time.

- 19.07 No employee is entitled to be paid for a Statutory Holiday on which he/she did not report for work after having been scheduled or called to work for that day, unless their absence occurred for a legitimate reason acceptable to the Company.
- 19.08 Where a new employee who has not attained thirty (30) days of employment with the Company is required to work on a Statutory Holiday, he/she shall be paid according to the Canada Labour Code for the time worked by him/her on that day.

#### **ARTICLE 20 - WAGES**

- **20.01** The Company and the Union agree that the wage formula, as set out in Appendix "A" attached hereto, shall be maintained during the term of the Agreement.
- 20.02 All employees covered by this Agreement shall be paid on a defined bi-weekly basis, and dates shall not be altered without Union consent.
- **20.03** Payment of wages shall be made by direct deposit to the employee's bank account.

- 20.04 The Company shall provide every employee with an electronic itemized statement in respect of all wage payments to the employee. Such statements shall set forth bi-weekly the total hours worked and the wage rate, the total overtime hours worked including the applicable rate, all benefits paid/remitted on behalf of the employee and all deductions made from gross earnings. The Company will provide a printed itemized statement, upon the written request of the employee, due to restricted internet access, or the Company will provide Site access to a computer and printer.
- 20.05 Any error in payroll calculation by the Company of seventy-five dollars (\$75.00) or more shall be paid to the employee by electronic deposit, within three (3) business days (exclusive of Saturdays, Sundays and Statutory Holidays) of the error being brought to the attention of the Company. Should the Company fail to remedy the payroll error within five (5) business days, a penalty of twenty-five dollars (\$25.00) will be paid to the affected employee and included with the next regular pay, in accordance with Clauses 20.02 and 20.03.

Should an employee be overpaid, the employee shall be advised by the Company in writing prior to any recovery of overpayment. The overpayment will be

recovered over a period mutually agreed to ensure no financial hardship upon the employee. The maximum period of recovery shall not exceed the length of the period over which the overpayment occurred unless otherwise mutually agreed, to a maximum recovery of \$75.00 in a pay period.

A joint Payroll Committee comprised of two (2) representatives of the Company and two (2) representatives of the Union, as designated by the Union, will meet on a quarterly basis, or more often as needed by mutual agreement, without loss of wages to the Union representatives to review and address matters of concern surrounding payroll discrepancies filed with payroll, including but not limited to the frequency and volume of discrepancies and/or patterns of discrepancies and take steps necessary to educate, correct or minimize discrepancies in accordance with the provisions of the Collective Agreement.

- **20.06** Base Administrators will receive \$2.50, as an adjustment to the employees' base rate, per hour for each hour worked on a biweekly basis.
- 20.07 Employees working split shift will receive an allowance equal to one (1) hours pay

provided they report for both parts of the shift.

20.08 Employees will receive a sixty-five dollar (\$65.00) daily per diem for meals and incidental expenses for all out of town assignments, including training. The per diem will be payable to the employee by direct deposit in advance · οf assignment or training. If the assignment is cancelled or shortened, then the Company will be able to recover any over payment in full from the employee's next pay or until such amount is recovered, as outlined in Article 20.05 above.

#### **ARTICLE 21 - BENEFITS**

- 21.01 a) Parking provided and paid one hundred percent (100%) by the Company. Employees that do not require a parking pass will be compensated the amount of the pass to be used for public transportation.
  - b) Access to hand sanitizer.
  - c) The Company will provide fridges, tables, microwaves, utensils, toaster ovens, kettles and coffee pots for employee's lunches. In the event of broken or malfunctioning utensils the Company will have three (3) business

days upon receiving notice, to replace the broken or malfunctioning utensils or appliances. Utensil replacement will be on a reasonable basis. The Company will also be responsible to have the fridges cleaned once a week.

- A lunchroom will be provided at each point for employee lunch breaks, which will include sufficient tables and chairs.
- e) The Company will be responsible to repair or replace furniture in lunchrooms within five (5) business days.
- f) The Company will contribute up to thirty dollars (\$30.00) per employee towards arranging and providing an annual flu vaccination for all employees.
- g) All employees, at their option, can participate in French language classes allowing them to achieve standards set to meet OLA obligation. The Company will provide financial aid to help an employee attend French classes on their own time without pay.
- The Company shall provide heaters, work gloves and parkas for employees scheduled at Hold Baggage Screening.

21.02 The Company will provide, at no cost to the employee, complete properly fitting uniforms. The minimum Company issued airside, Hold Baggage Screening (HBS), Non-Passenger Screening (NPS) and Non-Passenger Screening Vehicle (NPSV) uniform shall be as follows:

Items List	HBS	NPSA	NPST	NPSV
Industrial Work Gloves	Υ	*	*	Υ
Hearing Protectors	Υ	*	*	Υ
Coveralls	*	*	*	Υ
Insulated Coveralls	*	*	*	Υ
Parka	*	Υ	*	Υ
Steel-toed Work Boots	*	*	*	Υ
High Visibility Vest	*	*	*	Υ
Hard Hat/Hearing Prot.	N	N	N	Υ
Thermal Undergarment	*	*	*	Υ
Insulated Gloves	*	*	*	Υ
Safety Glasses	N	N	N	Υ
Rain Gear	N	*	N	Υ

(\*) = As Required (Y) = Required (N) = Not Required

The Company will make best efforts to provide permanent individual proximity storage for employees assigned to work Non-Passenger Screening Vehicle

operations for storage of additional uniform pieces.

The controlled uniform items remain the property of the Company and upon termination of employment, must be returned in a clean state prior to issuance of final pay cheque.

The Company will pay for alterations to uniforms with Management approval.

The Company will provide any other apparel or Personal Protection Equipment (PPE) deemed necessary by Employment and Social Development Canada (ESDC).

#### 21.03 Sick Leave

a) All employees will accrue paid Sick Leave entitlement at eight (8) days per calendar year. Sick days may be accumulated and carried over year-toyear up to a maximum of twelve (12) days. All days accumulated in excess of twelve (12) days as of April 1st each year will be paid out to the employee on the first regular pay in May each year at the hourly rate in effect.

Employees are eligible to receive Sick Leave pay for all absences related to illness/injury to the extent of accumulated hours in their sick bank.

All unused sick time shall be paid out upon termination of the employment relationship resulting from a change in the Service Provider, resignation or retirement.

Employees who suffer from recognized disability, or suitably verified illness. which requires recurring treatment/visits or that is recurring in nature. must submit а doctor's certificate to the Company, includes the expected duration reassessment period. Absences related to such a documented medical condition will not require an additional medical certificate for each absence, however the employee must provide and renew a medical certificate following semi-annually. reassessment or whichever occurs first.

Employees who are absent due to illness for three (3) or more days may be requested to provide a doctor's note upon his/her return to work.

If the Company requests a Functional Abilities Form ("FAF") to be completed the designated Union Representative will receive a copy of that FAF. Once a FAF is complete, the designated Union Representative will

receive a copy, if the employee consents to this by completing the appropriate section on the FAF, however, if an employee is seeking accommodation, the FAF will be provided to the Union to facilitate the accommodation request.

Any costs associated with Company requested Functional Ability Forms (FAF's) or CATSA required medical documentation and/or certificates will be reimbursed to the employee on a receipted basis.

# **Benefit Coverage**

The Company shall pay one hundred b) percent (100%) of the costs associated with providing a Health and Welfare Benefit Plan to all employees and their eligible spouses, partners dependents, including an employee assistance program, extended medical insurance, supplemental health care insurance, dental care insurance, vision insurance, emergency care and life insurance insurance coverage(s), immediately following ninety (90) days from the employee's date of hire with the Company.

Note: life insurance is not applicable for employees over age 70.

Generic substitution for drug claims is mandatory, effective January 1, 2020, unless a drug is otherwise prescribed by an employee's medical professional.

The Benefit Plan referred to above will continue for the duration of the Agreement and benefit levels will be maintained. A schedule of current benefits will be distributed to all employees by the Company in the next thirty (30) days.

Employees shall be required to complete benefit enrollment forms during employment orientation.

The Company will maintain coverage and continue to pay all premiums associated with the Health and Welfare Benefit Plan for the duration of all paid absences and absences due to occupational injury or jury duty.

i) In the event an employee is absent due to layoff, the Company will maintain coverage and continue to pay all premiums associated with

- the Health and Welfare Benefit Plan for a period of three (3) months.
- ii) In the event an employee is absent due to illness, non-occupational injury or Leave in accordance with the Canada Labour Code, the Company will maintain coverage and continue to pay all premiums associated with the Health and Welfare Benefit Plan benefit coverage for a maximum of one (1) year.
- iii) In the event an employee is absent beyond the maximum of one (1) year with a verified terminal ahove illness. the Company will maintain coverage and continue to pay all premiums associated with the Health and Welfare Benefit Plan benefit coverage for additional two (2) years.

# Medical Services Plan Coverage

c) The Company will contribute one hundred percent (100%) towards the cost of B.C. Health and Wellness Plan premiums to all employees, effective the 1st of the month following three (3) months of service.

# d) Personal Days

All employees are entitled to five (5) days of personal leave per calendar year. Employees with at least three (3) consecutive months continuous employment will be entitled to the first three (3) days of leave with pay. Personal days can only be used to be absent from work for certain reasons, according to the Canada Labour Code, as may be amended from time to time. The Company may request that an employee provide supporting documents concerning the reasons for the personal leave. The Company may request this documentation up to fifteen (15) days after an employee returns to work, and an employee must provide these supporting documents if it is possible to obtain them.

# 21.04 Pension Plan

The Company shall make payments to the IAMAW Multi-Employer Pension Fund for each employee performing work in a job classification covered by this Agreement as follows:

a) The Company will contribute four percent (4%) of the employee's total

earnings. Total earnings means all monies an employee earns for wages and includes earnings for vacation, paid holidays, approved Union Leave, VRSC COLA and LEAP.

- b) Contributions are payable for all nonprobationary, part-time and full-time employees covered by the Agreement.
- The payments to the Pension Fund shall be made to the IAMAW Multi-Employer Pension Fund.
- d) The Pension Fund shall conform with the requirements of the Pension Benefits Standards Act and the Income Tax Act so as to enable the Company to treat contributions to the Pension Fund as a deduction for Federal Income Tax purposes.
- e) All contributions shall be made to the Pension Fund by the twentieth (20th) day of the following month and in such a manner as determined by the Union.

Where legislation prohibits contributions being made to the IAMAW Multi-Employer Pension Fund because of an employee's age, the Company will instead pay an amount equivalent to the contributions outlined in 21.04 (a) to that

employee. Payment(s) will be remitted to RBC GIA account #011354, in the employees' name, subject to any requirements of the Income Tax Act.

#### **ARTICLE 22 - BULLETIN BOARD**

22.01 A separate, lockable, Bulletin Board will be provided by the Company for Union memos at each Site in the employee lunchroom and/or at each lunchroom where a Site has multiple lunchrooms, and one will be provided for Company memos only. All memos posted by either the Company or Union will be dated and signed. The Union Bulletin Boards will measure not less than five feet by 4 feet (5' x 4') in size, where space is available.

#### **ARTICLE 23 - NOTICES**

23.01 Any Notice in writing which either party gives to the other, shall be by Registered Mail or other traceable means and addressed as follows:

# To the Company

Allied Universal Security Services Vancouver International Airport Domestic Terminal - Level 4 Room B4837A 3880 Grant McConachie Way

#### Richmond, BC V7B 0A5

Telephone: 778-296-2600

Fax: 604-232-0410

#### To the Union

International Association of Machinists & Aerospace Workers
Transportation District Lodge 140
7980 River Road,
Richmond, British Columbia V6X 1X7

Phone: 604-448-0721 Fax: 604-448-0710

- 23.02 Any Notice provided in the Agreement to be mailed by Registered Mail shall be deemed given as of the third (3) day after the date of mailing. The Registration Receipt shall establish the date of mailing.
- 23.03 The Company or the Union may change its address for service of Notice at any time by notice as set out in Article 23.01.

#### **ARTICLE 24 - HUMAN RIGHTS**

24.01 a) The Company and the Union recognize the right of employees to work in a harassment free environment and are committed to providing a workplace that

is supportive of the dignity, self-esteem and contribution of all employees.

Workplace harassment and violence are defined as any action, conduct or comment, including of a sexual nature that can reasonably be expected to cause offence, humiliation or other physical or psychological injury or illness to an employee, including any prescribed action, conduct or comment.

## i) <u>Discrimination / Harassment</u> <u>Prohibited</u>

The Company and the Union agree that discrimination and/or harassment of any employee because of sex, colour, national origin, religion, age, marital status, sexual orientation or disability is absolutely prohibited.

# ii) Sexual Harassment

Sexual harassment means anv deliberate and/or repeated, behavior, unwelcome comment. gesture or contact of a sexual nature that might, on reasonable grounds, to be perceived by that creating employee as an uncomfortable working environment or placing a condition of a sexual nature on employment or any opportunity for training or promotion.

### iii) Bullying

Bullying is usually seen as acts or verbal comments that could "mentally or psychologically" hurt or isolate a person in the workplace. Sometimes, bullying can physical contact, as well. Bullving usually involves repeated incidents or a pattern of behaviour that is intended intimidate. offend. to degrade or humiliate a particular person or group of people. It has also been described as the assertion of power through aggression. Unlikely to lead to physical violence, usually takes the form physiological abuse. Often, verbal and strategic insults are intended to prevent targets from beina successful in their job.

### iv) Workplace Violence

Workplace violence and aggression occur when an employee is abused, threatened, or assaulted. In essence, the definition of workplace violence extends to any action or behaviour that could

lead to an incident that impacts the health and safety of an employee.

Every employee has the right to work in an environment of mutual respect, free from discrimination and harassment based on any of the above categories. Action or actions contravening this Policy may constitute grounds for discipline, up to and including termination with cause.

### b) Confidentiality

personal information concerning domestic will violence be confidential in line with relevant No information, regarding legislation. domestic violence, will be kept on a employee's personnel file without their express written permission.

### c) Complaint Procedure

i) Any complaint involving allegations of conduct, as defined in Article may be reported in by completing confidence. а Harassment Complaint form and delivering same directly to the Company Senior Director of Human their Resources ٥r designate, with a copy to the Bargaining Agent.

- The Company shall provide the complainant with the reasonable time necessary to complete the complaint form during shift without loss of pay.
- iii) Once a complaint(s) is brought forward, both the Bargaining Agent and the Company Senior Director of Human Resources or their designate must immediately be made aware of the complaint in writing, within one (1) business day.
- iv) A Union representative, designated by the Bargaining Agent, will be present while the complaint is investigated in a fair and impartial manner that protects the privacy interest of all involved - the accused offender as well as the complainant.
- V) The name of the complainant or the accused offender or the related to circumstances the complaint will not be disclosed except where disclosure is necessary for the of purpose investigating the complaint or taking related disciplinary measures.

- vi) The individual accused of harassment has the right to know and respond to all allegations of conduct as defined in Article 24.01.
- vii) The Company will commence an investigation into the complaint within five (5) business days of receipt of the complaint and take actions it considers appropriate to resolve the complaint within sixty (60) days.
- viii) Both the complainant and the accused offender will be provided with the investigation findings in writing within ten (10) days, following the conclusion of the investigation. For investigation findings claritv. means whether the complaint was found to be warranted, including the basis for that determination, as well as any closure actions that will be taken by the Company. Note that closure actions regarding a specific person will not be disclosed to any party involved in complaint or investigation.
- ix) Timelines contained within this clause may be modified by agreement between the parties,

where the complexity of the complaint, and/or availability of the complainant, accused or witnesses, warrant such a modification. This agreement will not be unreasonably withheld.

- 24.02 Notwithstanding, the provisions of Article 24.01, the Company will comply current Federal legislation and regulations aovernina workplace harassment violence prevention, as may be amended from time to time The provisions contained in Article 24.01(c), shall of the right an emplovee negate (complainant or respondent) to have a complaint related to workplace harassment violence prevention investigated accordance with the applicable Federal legislation and regulations.
- 24.03 Nothing in this Article shall be considered to negate the right of an employee to seek compensation through civil action or other legal means for any damages arising from a bona fide complaint of harassment, including but not limited to filing a Human Rights Complaint.
- **24.04** The strict prohibitions referred to in Article 24.01, are to be interpreted and applied in accordance with the notion of a reasonable Duty to Accommodate.

#### 24.05 Right of an Arbitrator

- a) An Arbitrator hearing a complaint or grievance under this Article shall have jurisdiction to:
  - dismiss the complaint or grievance;
  - ii) determine the appropriate redress regarding the complaint or grievance.

#### 24.06 Transfer of Harasser

Where the discrimination or harassment is proven and results in the transfer of an employee, it shall be the offender who is transferred to an alternative point or shift. The complainant shall only be transferred with the complainant's consent.

#### **ARTICLE 25 - HEALTH AND SAFETY**

25.01 The Company and the Union realize the benefits to be derived from adherence to the appropriate Federal Canadian Occupational Health and Safety Regulations, policies, practices and procedures, all of which promote and maintain a safe and healthy workplace.

All employees will participate in a recurrent Health and Safety Orientation

Program, every three (3) years. The Program will include training on a Company specific Emergency Evacuation Plan, WHMIS, Safe Lifting Practices, Workplace Harassment & Violence Prevention, and the contents of the Health and Safety Employee Handbook. The Company will allow time, on the job, to complete the Health and Safety Orientation Program. New Hire employees will complete this training during new hire orientation.

- 25.02 The Company will make reasonable provisions for the safety and health of its employees during the hours they are actively at work including:
  - a) A sufficient supply of latex gloves will be provided at each screening point for the use of employees, on an as needed basis, when the employee believes there is a health risk. Any issue regarding allergies will be dealt with on an individual basis. The Health and Safety Committee will monitor and make recommendations.
  - b) If at any time, in any work area, the conditions become unbearable to work in accordance to the Canada Labour Code Part II, whether it is heat or cold, the Company will provide the necessary

equipment to make the workplace bearable to work in

- **25.03** The parties will co-operate to promote the adherence to the appropriate Federal Regulation, policies, practices and procedures.
- 25.04 A Health and Safety Committee(s) shall be established in accordance with the Canada Labour Code Part II and the Canadian Occupational Health & Safety Regulations, policies, practices and procedures including:
  - a) Not fewer than one (1) regular Member for each point or work location at each Site within the Region, employed at the operation and experienced in the types of work carried on at the operation; and,
  - Membership chosen by and representing the workers and the Company, in no case shall the Company's representatives outnumber those of the workers; and,
  - c) A Chairperson and Secretary elected from and by the Members of the Committee, where the Chairperson is a Company member and the Secretary shall be a worker and vice versa.

# **25.05** The workplace Health and Safety Committee(s) will:

- consider and expeditiously dispose of Health and Safety complaints;
- participate in the implementation and monitoring of programs to prevent workplace hazards;
- participate in all of the inquiries, investigations, studies, and inspections pertaining to employee health and safety;
- participate in the implementation and monitoring of a program for the provision of personal protective equipment, clothing, devices, or materials;
- ensure that adequate records are kept on work accidents, injuries and health hazards;
- cooperate with Health and Safety Officers;
- participate in the implementation of changes that may affect occupational health and safety including work processes and procedures;
- assist the Company in investigating and assessing the exposure of employees to

hazardous substances;

- inspect, each month, all or part of the workplace, so that every part of the workplace is inspected at least once per year; and,
- participate in the development of Health and Safety policies and programs.

#### 25.06 Reporting of Unsafe Conditions

- a) Employees shall immediately report to their Supervisor, any equipment or conditions, which the employee reasonable cause to believe. are unsafe The Management shall immediately investigate the complaint and shall take steps deemed necessary to correct the unsafe condition. employee, at work, has the right to refuse dangerous work if they have reasonable cause to believe that:
  - the use or operation of a machine or thing presents a danger to themselves or a co-worker; or,
  - ii) a condition exists at work that presents a danger to them.
- In order for an employee to refuse dangerous work without risking their job

or wages, the employee must follow the proper procedure as outlined in the Canada Labour Code Part II R.S., 1985, c.L-2.

- **25.07** The National Health and Safety Policy Committee, as per CLC, will be responsible:
  - To participate in the development of health and safety policies and programs;
  - To deal with matters raised by its members or referred to it by a workplace committee or health and safety representative;
  - To participate in the development and monitoring of a program for the prevention of workplace hazards that also provides for the health and safety education of employees; and
  - To participate in inquiries, studies, investigations and inspections as it considers necessary.

The policy committee has access to all government and employer reports, studies and tests relating to the health safety of employees. It can request from the employer any information it considers necessary to identify existing or potential hazards with respect to materials,

processes, equipment or activities in any of the employer's workplaces.

#### **ARTICLE 26 - JOB POSTINGS**

26.01 The Company and the Union agree that promotions and transfers to higher paid jobs with equal pay will be based primarily on the skill, ability, experience, qualifications, and seniority of the employee concerned. Where the skill, ability, experience, and qualifications are relatively equal, seniority shall govern. The Company agrees not to disadvantage present employees, who have not been trained, (i.e., if a job is posted, the Company will not take the position that only trained employees may qualify).

When selecting applicants, the Company and the Union shall compare employees on the same basis for the same job and provide the Union with the comparison if requested in a dispute.

26.02 All Bargaining Unit vacancies, including training opportunities, will be posted for a period of seven (7) calendar days on Company bulletin boards in the workplace at the Site. The posting(s) shall specify any pre-requisites as outlined in the Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs), if applicable. If no suitable applicants are brought forward by this posting within the seven (7) calendar

days specified, the Company will meet with the Bargaining Agent to determine the best way to fill the vacancy.

The Company will provide the Chief Shop Steward or his/her designate(s) with a copy of all postings, by electronic means, prior to posting in the workplace.

26.03 Employees who are on Vacation or Sick Leave (i.e., Long Term Disability, Short Term Disability, Maternity, WorkSafe BC, ICBC, etc.) during the posting period will have three (3) days after their return to bid the open position.

The Company agrees to create a job posting book which will be available to all employees upon return to work.

26.04 The Company will transfer successful bidders to their new position within thirty (30) calendar days of the award date, unless otherwise agreed to between the Union and the Company. The transfer is subject to the relocation provisions of Article 12.03.

#### **ARTICLE 27 - TERM**

**27.01** This Agreement shall become effective as of April 1, 2021 and shall remain in effect until March 31, 2024.

27.02 Either party, during four (4) months prior to the expiry of the Agreement, shall give Notice in Writing to the other party, of its desire to commence Negotiations for the renewal of the Agreement.

# ARTICLE 28 - VRSC (VOLUME, RISK, STRESS AND CONSEQUENCES)

A Volume, Risk, Stress and Consequences ("VRSC") monthly bonus payment will be provided to full-time employees at the following four (4) airports (the "VRSC Airports"), based on the following rates (the "Applicable Percentage"):

1)	Vancouver	5%
2)	Victoria	5%
3)	Kelowna	5%
<b>4</b> )	Prince George	2.5%

For further clarity, the VRSC payment will not be provided to employees at any airport covered by this Agreement that is not referred to above.

The Annual VRSC amount is calculated by taking the Level 3.4 hourly rate multiplied by 2080 hours, multiplied by the Applicable Percentage. The Annual VRSC amount is divided by 12 to provide a Monthly VRSC payment.

The Monthly VRSC Payment will be paid by the end of the month next following the month in which it is earned by the Screening Officer working at least a

majority of his/her scheduled shifts in the month. It is understood that paid absences (i.e., Vacation, Paid Sick, Bereavement, etc.) provided for in this Agreement shall be counted as shifts worked in this calculation.

Part-time employees at the VRSC Airports with a minimum of sixteen (16) hours up to thirty (30) hours per week will receive sixty percent (60%) of the Monthly VRSC Payment.

The 2022 annual VRSC payment, in effect on April 1, 2022, divided by 2080 hours will be rolled in to the base rate identified in Appendix A effective October 23, 2022.

# ARTICLE 29 - C.O.L.A. (COST OF LIVING ADJUSTMENT)

A Cost of Living Adjustment ("COLA") monthly payment will be provided to full-time employees at the following airports (the "COLA Airports") based on the following rates (the "Applicable Percentage"):

1)	Vancouver	7.5%
2)	Victoria	2.5%
3)	Kelowna	1.5%
<b>4</b> )	Prince George	1.5%
5)	Penticton	1.5%
6)	Campbell River	1.5%
<b>7</b> )	Castlegar	1.5%
8)	Comox	1.5%
9)	Cranbrook	1.5%

For further clarity, the COLA payment will not be provided to employees at any airport covered by this Agreement that is not referred to above.

The Annual COLA amount is calculated by taking the Level 3.4 hourly rate, multiplied by 2080 hours, multiplied by the Applicable Percentage. The Annual COLA amount is divided by 12 to provide a Monthly COLA payment.

The Monthly COLA payment will be paid by the end of the month next following the month in which it is earned by the Screening Officer working at least a majority of his/her scheduled shifts in the month. It is understood that paid absences (i.e., Vacation, Paid Sick, Bereavement, etc.) provided for in this Agreement shall be counted as shifts worked in this calculation.

Part-time employees at the COLA Airports with a minimum of sixteen (16) hours up to thirty (30) hours per week will receive sixty percent (60%) of the Monthly COLA payment applicable at that airport.

The 2022 annual COLA payment, in effect on April 1, 2022, divided by 2080 hours will be rolled in to the base rate identified in Appendix A effective October 23, 2022.

#### ARTICLE 30 - LEAP & NLA - YXJ

Local Employment Adjustment Plan (LEAP) monthly payment will be provided to full-time employees at the Fort St. John Airport based upon a rate of three percent (3%), as follows:

The annual LEAP amount is calculated by taking the Level 3.4 hourly rate, multiplied by 2080 hours, multiplied by three percent (3%). The annual LEAP amount is divided by 12 to provide a Monthly LEAP Payment.

Monthly LEAP Payment will be paid by the end of the month next following the month in which it is earned by the Screening Officer working at least a majority of his/her scheduled shifts in the month. It is understood that paid absences (ie. Vacation, Paid Sick, Bereavement, etc.) provided for in this Agreement shall be counted as shifts worked in this calculation.

Part-time employees with a minimum of sixteen (16) hours up to thirty (30) hours per week will receive sixty percent (60%) of the Monthly LEAP Payment.

Note: Any increase in scheduled hours worked by employee(s) resulting from Article(s) 17.06, 1 7.07 or 17.13, following a shift bid will be included in determining an employee's entitlement and eligibility for LEAP. That is, part time employees who work a minimum of

sixteen (16) hours but less than thirty (30) hours per week on average during any LEAP qualifying period shall be paid part time LEAP in respect of that LEAP qualifying period and part time employees who work thirty (30) hours or more during any LEAP qualifying period shall be paid full time LEAP in respect of that LEAP qualifying period.

In accordance with Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) regulations, the Company agrees to provide employees with eligible tax credits as permitted in the Intermediate Zone for Northern Living Allowance, which will be reflected in box 32 of the employee's T4 slip from the annual LEAP payment.

Half of the 2022 anual LEAP payment, in effect on Arpil 1, 2022, divided by 2080 hours will be rolled in to the base rate identified in Appendix A effective October 23, 2022.

For clarity, the LEAP will be amended from three (3%) to one and half (1.5%) effective October 23, 2022.

## IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed and SIGNED this Agreement at:

## VANCOUVER, BRITISH COLUMBIA, this 28th day of September, 2022.

#### For the IAMAW:

Tania Canniff Todd Haverstock

Chris Evans Vic Greco Yashin Patel Matt Sergent Rick Singh Darlene Stewart Chris Thompson Millice Wong

#### For Allied:

Chris Wates

Danguole Chandler Neil McClure Mark McCreary

### **APPENDIX "A" - RATES OF PAY**

## Vancouver Bargaining Unit - Wage Scale

IMPLEMENTATION DATE		APR. 1, 2021 2.5%	APR. 1, 2022 3.75%	OCT. 23, 2022 COLAVRSC ADJUSTMENT	APR. 1, 2023 3.75%
JOB TITLE(\$)					
SCREENING OFFICER	F1	\$19.40	\$20.13	\$23.17	\$24.04
	3.1	\$22.06	\$22.89	\$25.93	\$26.90
	3.2	\$22.52	\$23.36	\$26.40	\$27.39
	3.3	\$22.98	\$23.84	\$26.88	\$27.89
	3.4	\$23.44	\$24.32	\$27.36	\$28.39
POINT LEAD	PL	\$26.37	\$27.36	\$30.40	\$31.94

## Victoria Bargaining Unit - Wage Scale

IMPLEMENTATION DATE		APR. 1, 2021 2.5%	APR. 1, 2022 3.75%	OCT. 23, 2022 COLAVRSC ADJUSTMENT	APR. 1, 2023 3.75%
JOB TITLE(S)					
SCREENING OFFICER	F1	\$19.40	\$20.13	\$21.95	\$22.77
	3.1	\$22.06	\$22.89	\$24.71	\$25.63
	3.2	\$22.52	\$23.36	\$25.18	\$26.12
	3.3	\$22.98	\$23.84	\$25.66	\$26.62
	3.4	\$23.44	\$24.32	\$26.14	\$27.12
DONTLEAD	DI.	\$26.37	<b>\$27.00</b>	\$29.18	\$30.51
POINT LEAD	PL	\$20,37	\$27.36	\$Z3.10	\$20.21

## Kelowna Bargaining Unit - Wage Scale

IMPLEMENTATION DATE		APR. 1 2021 2.5%	APR. 1 2022 3.75%	OCT. 23, 2022 COLAVRSC ADJUSTMENT	APR. 1, 2023 3.75%
JOB TITLE(S)					
SCREENING OFFICER	F1	\$19.40	\$20.13	\$21.71	\$22.52
	3.1	\$22.06	\$22.89	\$24.47	\$25.39
	3.2	\$22.52	\$23.36	\$24.94	\$25.88
	3.3	\$22.98	\$23.84	\$25.42	\$26.37
	3.4	\$23.44	\$24.32	\$25.90	\$26.87
		4			
POINT LEAD	PL	\$26.37	\$27.36	\$28.94	\$30.23

## **Prince George Bargaining Unit - Wage Scale**

IMPLEMENTATION DATE		APR. 1 2021 2.5%	APR. 1 2022 3.75%	OCT. 23, 2022 COLA/VRSC ADJUSTMENT	APR. 1, 2023 3.75%
JOB TITLE(S)					
SCREENING OFFICER	F1	\$19.40	\$20.13	\$21.10	\$21.89
	3.1	\$22.06	\$22.89	\$23.86	\$24.75
	3.2	\$22.52	\$23.36	\$24.33	\$25.24
	3.3	\$22.98	\$23.84	\$24.81	\$25.74
	3.4	\$23.44	\$24.32	\$25.29	\$26.24
POINT LEAD	PL	\$26.37	\$27.36	\$28.33	\$29.52

#### Campbell River, Castlegar, Comox, Cranbrook, Fort St. John, Nanaimo & Penticton -Wage Scale

IMPLEMENTATION DATE		APR. 1 2021 2.5%	APR. 1 2022 3.75%	OCT. 23, 2022 COLAVRSC ADJUSTMENT	APR. 1, 2023 3.75%
JOB TITLE(S)		100.00000		4670000	40/30/410
SCREENING OFFICER	F1	\$19.40	\$20.13	<b>\$20.50</b>	\$21.27
	3.1	\$22.06	\$22.89	\$23.26	\$24.13
	3.2	\$22.52	\$23.36	\$23.73	\$24.62
	3.3	\$22.98	\$23.84	\$24.21	\$25.12
	3.4	\$23.44	\$24.32	\$24.69	\$25.62
POINT LEAD	PL	\$26.37	\$27.36	<b>\$2</b> 7.73	\$28.82

<sup>\*</sup> Included for identification purposes only.

\*Level 3.1: 0 - 2080 hours \*Level 3.2: 2081 - 4160 hours \*Level 3.3: 4161 - 6240 hours

\*Level 3.4: 6241 + hours

## \*Asterisk references are for information purposes only.

Point Leads will be paid twelve and one-half percent (12.5%) above Level 3.4 The Acting Point Lead rate will be equal to the Point Lead rate.

#### **APPENDIX "B"**

#### LEAD SCREENER

#### Qualifications

The Company will allocate training opportunities to obtain CATSA Certification as a Lead Screener based primarily on the skill, ability, experience, qualifications, and seniority of the employee concerned. Where the skill, ability, experience, and qualifications are relatively equal, seniority shall govern selection.

#### General Qualifications:

- Minimum of six months experience as a Screening Officer.
- Fully Transport Canada qualified.
- Completion of all pre-requisites in the CATSA SOPs to attend Point Lead Training.
- See Article 26.01.

#### Lead Screener Duties:

A Lead Screener may assist in identifying training needs and providing closed line training to Screening Officers, including, training on technique and contingency procedures, practice of test bags, EDT, and escalation of emergency procedures. Lead Screeners may be asked by the Service Delivery Manager to perform administrative and supervisory

tasks associated with the efficient operation of the screening checkpoint, including rotation of Screening Officers, the administration of Screening Officer breaks, and deployment of Screening Officers between screening operations, as well as, any incidental operational duties, excluding those of a managerial nature.

#### **METHOD OF SELECTION - VANCOUVER**

- If a permanent or regular Acting Lead Screener/Lead Screener (if no other Lead Screener is available) is on Vacation, Sick Leave or Leave of Absence, etc., the Company may upgrade a temporary Acting Lead Screener for a period not to exceed one week. Following the one-week period, the upgraded position may be offered to the next senior person and so on through the list.
- If a permanent or regular Acting Lead Screener/Lead Screener (if no other Lead Screener is available) books off on a daily basis, then the Company will upgrade a temporary Acting Lead Screener for a period not longer than one day to ensure that all Members of the relief list can be utilized.
- If the employee is designated to serve as Acting Lead Screener by the Lead Screener, or above, for fifteen (15) minutes or more, he/she will be paid a premium that is outlined in Appendix "A".

- An Acting Lead Screener may be utilized whenever a Lead Screener is not available. The Acting Lead Screener will be selected by the Lead Screener or above as per the agreed selection process applied to the list of qualified agents.
- There will be one list per location (eg., screening point) and Acting Lead Screener names will be placed in order of seniority. Whenever an Acting Lead Screener is required at any location, the list will be consulted and agents chosen in general order of seniority. It is the intention to select an Acting Lead Screener from the same screening point where the Acting Lead Screener is required. If no Acting Lead Screener is available from that point, one will be selected on a seniority basis from the next closest point.
- Acting Lead Screeners will only be used to carry out specific assignments that continue for no more than ninety (90) days.
- The Company may post temporary, time limited Lead Screener assignments for periods of longer than ninety (90) days to cover for Permanent Lead Screener absences, such as Pregnancy Leave, Parental Leave, Sick Leaves and other approved Leaves. However, Permanent Lead Screener will be allowed to

- bid on such vacancies prior to Acting Lead Screeners.
- When a Permanent Lead Screener is assigned to work in a lower paid classification, as a result of a loss of Certification, the Permanent Lead Screener will be paid at the rate for the classification in which he/she is working but service hours worked in the Permanent Lead Screener classification will count as service hours for the purposes of placing the Permanent Lead Screener at the appropriate pay level within the classification in which he/she is working.

#### **METHOD OF SELECTION - ALL OTHER SITES**

 In the event the scheduled Lead Screener is absent i.e., on Vacation, Sick Leave, Bereavement or Leave of Absence etc., the senior employee (Screening Officer) possessing the Lead Screener Qualification requirements and working the same scheduled hours as the Lead Screener shift shall be upgraded to acting Lead Screener and receive the associated, premium outlined in Appendix A for each hour worked.

#### **LETTER OF AGREEMENT #1**

#### PERFORMANCE BONUSES

If CATSA provides any performance bonus intended to be distributed to Screening Personnel, the bonus will be distributed in accordance with agreement between the Company and the Union. If agreement cannot be reached, the dispute will be resolved pursuant to the arbitration procedure under Article 7.

August 20, 2012

#### **LETTER OF AGREEMENT #2**

#### **UNIFORM STORAGE**

The Company shall make best efforts to provide adequate secure storage at or near all Screening Check Points and/or Work Locations for employees to store controlled uniform items while on duty.

August 21, 2015

#### **MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT #1**

#### PERSONAL PAID LEAVE

Employees are permitted to use sick days as personal paid leave, with the exception of the last two weeks of December and the first week of January. However, the employee must have sufficient time in their sick bank to cover the hours of the shift being requested as personal paid leave. There will be at least one personal paid leave granted by the Company, per airport, on any given day, outside of the excluded period, provided the employee requesting the day has the time in his/her sick bank. The Company will award personal paid leaves within 14 days of the date being requested. Employees will use best efforts whenever possible to give the Company at least fourteen (14) days' notice of a request. If there is more than one request for the same day, the day off will be granted on the basis of seniority.

When the Company offers leaves of absences, employees will have the option to convert the leave of absence into personal paid leave, as outlined above, in addition to the specified minimums.

August 12, 2019

#### **MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT # 2**

#### **ARTICLE 17 - AUXILIARY SHIFT SCHEDULES**

This Memorandum of Agreement is entered into on a without precedent or prejudice basis to provide for the creation of auxiliary shift schedules, to assist the Company to meet its contractual commitments and to cater to fluctuations and changes to airline schedules, airport and CATSA requirements, in the Vancouver, Kelowna and Victoria Bargaining Units. Unless otherwise stated herein the terms and conditions of the Collective Agreement apply.

 An employee hired at Kelowna or Victoria Bargaining Unit(s) following the date of ratification of Agreement #4 will initially be required to bid an Auxiliary Shift Schedule, subject to the conditions of this agreement. For clarification purposes, an employee hired prior to the date of ratification of Agreement #4, can never be required to bid an Auxiliary Shift Schedule.

Employees at the Vancouver Bargaining Unit who are PCSOs as of August 31, 2022 or employees hired after August 31, 2022 will initially be required to bid an Auxiliary shift, subject to the conditions of this agreement. For clarification purposes, an employee who is a Screening Officer as of August 31, 2022, can never be required to bid an Auxiliary Shift Schedule.

2. The number of shift lines permitted on an Auxiliary Schedule Shift Bid will be limited to a maximum of twenty percent (20%) of the total number of active employees in the respective Bargaining Unit on the date of ratification, or the date the Collective Agreement is ordered, and thereafter semi- annually on May 1st and September 1st each year, consistent with the examples outlined below:

E.g. - Vancouver Bargaining Unit

Effective Date	Total # Active B/U Employees	20%		Maximum # Auxiliary Lines
Date or Ratification	840	168	840	168
May 1, 2023	1008	202	806	202
September 1, 2023	1210	242	968	242

A minimum of eighty percent (80%) of the total number of active employees in the Bargaining Unit will continue to be scheduled in accordance with the push principle schedule provided in Article 17.01, based upon the past application and practice between the Company and the Union, maximizing employees to forty (40) hours on the basis of seniority.

Active employees means any employee at work or returning to work within thirty (30) calendar days of the implementation of a schedule shift bid

An employee returning from Leave of Absence to active status, that did not participate in a schedule shift bid, will select a shift schedule consistent with their classification seniority, subject to Article 17.01(b), from those shift schedules that were available at the time of the most recent shift bid and the selected shift schedule shall be duplicated.

The Joint Scheduling Committee(s) will, as part of their weekly review, ensure that the above percentages (%'s) are maintained and to determine how to best allocate the hours for employees, to ensure the maximization of hours based upon seniority, in accordance with the Auxiliary Shift Schedule parameters outlined in Point 4 below.

3. Following the date of ratification a period of transition will apply to recruit and hire new employee(s) in preparation for the first "FALL" Auxiliary Schedule Shift Bid. As new employee(s) complete SOF Training, including OJT requirements, they shall bid an Auxiliary Shift Schedule, in accordance with the provisions of this Memorandum of Agreement, Article 17.01, and as outlined in Point 6 of this document.

During the transition period, new employee(s) shall not be eligible to apply for new or vacant shift lines posted in accordance with Article 17.06 (1). Employee(s) holding Auxiliary Shift

Schedules, shall be eligible to apply for all new or vacant shift lines posted in accordance with Article 17.06 (1), effective the commencement date of the "FALL" Auxiliary Schedule Shift Bid in 2023, unless otherwise mutually agreed between the Company and the Union.

- Auxiliary shift schedules will be between sixteen (16) and thirty-two (32) hours each week and will consist of eight (8) hour shift(s), including a Saturday and Sunday.
- There shall be up to six (6) Auxiliary Schedule Shifts Bids each calendar year, two (2) of which will coincide with the "Summer" and "Fall/Winter" Schedule Shift Bid, specified in Article 17.01(n).

Any employee may elect to bid into an auxiliary shift schedule, each year, during the "Fall/Winter" Schedule Shift Bid, subject to the provisions of Article 17.01(b). Employee(s) who bid an Auxiliary Schedule Shift are committing to do so until the bidding of the following year's "Fall/Winter" Schedule Shift Bid, notwithstanding the employee's right to obtain a vacant line posted in accordance with Article 17.06.

6. The Auxiliary Schedule Shift Bid(s) will occur at the discretion of the Company in consultation with the Joint Scheduling Committee for each Bargainng Unit. Only employees holding an auxiliary schedule shift in the "Fall/Winter" Schedule Shift Bid will participate in the additional Auxiliary Schedule Shift Bids. The provisions of Article 17.01 will apply in the development, selection and implementation of an Auxiliary Schedule Shift Bid. The minimum duration of an Auxiliary Schedule Shift Bid will be twenty-eight (28) days.

- 7. Employees who bid an Auxiliary Schedule Shift, will only be permitted to bid one (1) shift line at the time of the shift bid.
- 8. During the "Fall/Winter" Schedule Shift Bid, not less than eighty-five percent (85%) of the total weekly hours will be utilized in the push principle schedule provided for in Article 17.01, based upon the past application and practice between the Company and the Union, maximizing employees to forty (40) hours on the basis of seniority. Total weekly hours are equal to all hours utilized in the shift bid schedule(s), including "Auxiliary" schedules, all targeted weekly hours and the "buffered" hours, which may be utilized by the Company in the creation of a shift bid schedule. For clarity, total weekly hours, includes all billable and non-billable hours.
- Shift lines with rest day patterns that include Saturday and Sunday off will be maximized within the main shift bid schedule(s) referenced in Article 17.01(n), as a result of the utilization of Auxiliary Schedule Shifts.

10. Employee(s) who bid an Auxiliary Schedule Shift shall be entitled to all rights and benefits under the Collective Agreement or as otherwise specified in this Memorandum of Agreement, with one (1) exception from Article 17.13. Employee(s) who bid an Auxiliary Schedule Shift shall have the same shift give away and shift trade privileges as set out in Article 17.13, however, they shall not have the right to pick up shifts from other employees.

Any matters arising from the interpretation or application of this agreement will be discussed and mutually agreed between the Company and the Union.

This Agreement shall be reviewed by the parties on an annual basis, commencing September 1, 2023, and adjustments may be made to the administration of these provisions. Should either party be of the opinion that this Agreement has caused that party, unforeseen material adverse consequences, that Party may refer the issue to Arbitration, pursuant to Article 7, for a determination of a fair and equitable resolution. The parties further agree that the next scheduled expedited arbitration dates will be utilized to hear the matter.

### MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT # 3

#### **ARTICLE 17.06(1) FILLING OF VACANT LINES**

Expires with the Collective Agreement, unless expressly renewed by agreement of the parties.

September 28, 2022

## TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENTS BETWEEN IAM BARGAINING UNITS

This Memorandum of Agreement is entered into on a without precedent or prejudice basis to specify the requirements, terms, and conditions relating to the temporary assignment of employees between IAM Bargaining Units.

Unless stated in this Memorandum of Agreement the terms and conditions of Collective Agreement #4 apply.

The parties recognize that from time to time the Company may have an immediate need to increase staffing levels at airports in the Pacific region to meet operational requirements and service levels.

## The parties agree as follows:

- Any and all assignments require prior written authorization of the IAM, specifically a representative of the Bargaining Agent. The Union will not unreasonably withhold its approval of a temporary assignment that follows the terms and conditions outlined in this MOA.
- Temporary assignments will be posted for a minimum of seven (7) calendar days, unless a

shorter duration is mutually agreed upon.

- 3. The assignment will be offered on a voluntary basis and awarded based on classification seniority, unless otherwise mutually agreed. Applicants that have an accommodation that limits their hours or duties, may be deemed ineligible for the assignment, if the accommodation conflicts with the hours and duties of the assignment.
- 4. The temporary assignment will be for a maximum of 45 days. This time period may be extended by mutual agreement between all the parties.
- 5. The temporary assignment is only available to employees from the site or sites, as designated by the Company. Should the temporary assignment be available to more than one (1) site, the parties agree the assignment will be offered in order of Company service date.
- The transferring employee will continue to be covered under the terms and conditions of employment/seniority/compensation, as though they are working at their own site. They shall not establish or carry seniority privileges to any other site and shall continue to accrue seniority at their own site.
- Any employee on temporary assignment will continue to be paid (not necessarily scheduled), at a minimum, the equivalent hours their seniority

entitled them to bid at their normal site of work. However, they cannot be scheduled beyond the hours available to those employees at the transferring site, unless those employees have been first offered the opportunity to increase hours.

- Additional Hours and Overtime must continue to be afforded first to employees at the transferring site on a voluntary basis. For clarity, this means that there can be no adverse effect on the scheduled hours, additional hours or overtime hours of work for employees at the transferring site.
- 9. Schedules for transferring employees will be developed and offered to employees at the site of assignment in accordance with Article(s) 17.01 and 17.06. Vacated lines or lines not bid by employees at the site of assignment will be offered to employees accepting the temporary assignment by classification seniority, or as otherwise mutually agreed between the parties.
- 10. The Company will book and pay for all accommodations on behalf of the transferring employee. The standard accommodation will be a single hotel room, in a safe environment, conveniently located to the site, and comfortably equipped.
- The Company will ensure that employees are provided with shuttle service between the

accommodation and the site. Further, the Company may provide ground transportation to transferring employees at the site, as appropriate and required, at no cost to the employee.

12. A daily per diem of \$70.00 will be paid to a transferring employee, in accordance with Article 20.08. Mileage if applicable, will be reimbursed in accordance with Article 17.14.

Any matter arising from the application or interpretation of the foregoing will be discussed and mutually agreed between the parties.

# SCREENING CONTRACTOR TRAINING REPRESENTATIVES (SCTR's)

This Memorandum of Agreement is entered into on a without precedent or prejudice basis to provide employees with the opportunity to qualify as a Screening Contractor Training Representative (SCTR), while remaining in the bargaining unit. Unless stated in this Memorandum of Agreement the terms and conditions of Collective Agreement #4 apply.

The parties agree as follows:

- 1. Pursuant to the provisions of Article 26.02, the Company may post for vacancies for Training and Performance Specialists ("Trainers").
- 2. Applicants must meet the prerequisite requirements and qualifications as specified in the posting.
- An employee whose application is accepted by the Company will;
  - Remain in the bargaining unit while performing some of the duties of a Trainer, in preparation for their attendance at SCTR pre-requisite qualification courses, and on the job training.

- b. Continue to be covered by the Collective Agreement for all purposes.
- c. Receive the rate of pay specified for Lead Screener as outlined in Appendix A of the Agreement for the duration of the assignment, i.e. up to ninety (90) calendar days.
- d. Continue to work their regular bid shift schedule, unless the employee voluntarily agrees to a schedule modification to accommodate a specific training need.

It is understood that applicants may not engage in managerial duties, as outlined in Article 4 of the Agreement.

- 4. Within ninety (90) calendar days from the acceptance date of an employee's application, the employee must successfully pass any CATSA required training, including:
  - A three (3) day Learning Performance Advisor (LPA) led SCTR qualification course at a Class 1 airport, including:
    - i. Adult learning principles,
    - ii. CIS Kit training,
    - SCTR Coaching and Review training, and
    - iv. A pass/fail assessment by the LPA, which includes a teach-back and mock

## Screening Contractor (SC) review.

- b. Assist in one (1) Screening Officer Foundation (SOF) Lab course as a SCTR candidate at a Class 1 airport.
- Successfully pass the Pre-board Screening (PBS) Qualification assessment on day 5 of SOF lab.

The ninety (90) calendar day time frame, may be extended by mutual agreement of the parties, where there are unforeseen circumstances outside of the control of an employee. Such agreement will not be unreasonably withheld.

- 5. Should an applicant not be successful in passing the CATSA required training, they shall be given the option to return to their regular assignment in the bargaining unit, without any immediate consequence to their certification or employment status. The applicant may be issued a PER, and will be subject to the PER process. The applicant will also be given the option to re-attend the SOF Lab and reattempt the PBS Qualification assessment at the discretion of the Company.
- Where an applicant successfully obtains the SCTR certification, and accepts a permanent position as a Training and Performance Specialist, they shall forfeit their bargaining unit position and their seniority in accordance with Article 9.06.

 If at any time the passing requirements are amended by CATSA or the Company, which will result in the automatic decertification of an employee, this Memorandum of Agreement shall immediately be terminated.

Any matter arising from the application or interpretation of the foregoing will be discussed and mutually agreed between the parties.

## ASSISTANT SCREENING CONTRACTOR TRAINING REPRESENTATIVES (SCTR's)

This Memorandum of Agreement is entered into on a without precedent or prejudice basis to provide the Training Department with temporary support through the use of Assistant SCTR's. Unless stated in this Memorandum of Agreement the terms and conditions of Collective Agreement # 4 apply.

## The parties agree as follows:

- Pursuant to the provisions of Article 26.02, the Company will post for and fill a maximum of ten (10) temporary vacancies for Assistant SCTR's from the Vancouver Bargaining Unit.
- Applicants must be certified in pre-board screening for a minimum of three (3) years' experience and have no PER's in the last six (6) months.
- Must be capable of passing any CATSA required training, including:
  - a. PBS Refresher on FBS, PSOP, WTMD/ HHMD, Special Screening Situations
  - SCTR Qualification Coach and Review
  - c. LPA Skills Assessment

Should an applicant not be successful in passing the CATSA required training, they shall return to their regular assignment in the Vancouver Bargaining Unit, without any consequence to their certification or employment status.

## 4. Successful applicants will:

- Remain in the Bargaining unit while performing the duties of an Assistant SCTR, and continue to be covered by the Collective Agreement for all purposes.
- b. Receive the rate of pay specified for Lead Screener as outlined in Appendix A of the Agreement for the duration of the assignment. i.e. 6 months, 9 months.
- c. Continue to work their regular bid shift schedule, unless the employee voluntarily agrees to a schedule modification to accommodate a specific training need.
- Responsibilities will include assisting with and overseeing:
  - a. Recurrent Learning Plan (RLP) In-Service
  - CATSA pre-clearance Screening Officer Program
  - Canada Transportation Act (CTA) Heavy Lifting

- d. Exam Proctoring
- e. SOF2 Internal On-the-Job (OJT) Training Observations (WTMD/HHMD, PSOP, Special Screening and FBS).

Any matter arising from the application or interpretation of the foregoing will be discussed and mutually agreed between the parties. The parties agree that this Memorandum of Agreement shall expire on March 31, 2023, and shall not continue beyond that date, unless expressly renewed by mutual agreement in writing between the parties.

## AMENDMENTS TO THE CANADA LABOUR CODE RE: PAID SICK LEAVE

Within fourteen (14) calendar days of confirmation that the changes to Part III of the Canada Labour Code concerning paid leave sick coming into effect, the parties will meet to reach an agreement on the application of the provisions concerning Article 21.03(a).

The Company commits to maintain the existing superior provisions of Article 21.03(a), and will ensure that the minimum statutory changes are applied, and that the terms will be at least as favorable as the current provisions of the Collective Agreement.

Should the parties be unable to reach an agreement within thirty (30) calendar days of the legislation coming into effect, the matter will be referred to expedited arbitration with Arbitrator Saunders.



**Transportation District 140**